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THE 2025 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS AGENDA 

Time: 08:30 AM - June 30th 2025 

Place: Floor 2– Head office of Dai Thien Loc Corporation 
 

Content Report by Note 

1. Welcome delegate participant, register and issue 

documents 

BTC, BKTNB, Lễ tân 

Organization department, Internal 

Audit department, receptionist 

 

2. Announce vertification of shareholder status 
Mrs. Doan Thi Bich Thuy –  

Head of The Shareholders' 

Eligibility Verification Committee  

 

3. Introduce the Chairperson Mr. Tran Nam Trung – 

Organization department 

Vote by 

show of 

hands 

 
4. Introduce the Secretary of the meeting and approval 

Vote Counting Board 

Mr. Tran Nam Trung – 

Organization department 

5. Approve the meeting agenda and regulation on 

organization at the meeting 

Mrs. Le Thi Thoa – the 

meeting secretary 

6. Report on production – business in 2024 and plan for 

2025 

Mrs. Nguyen Thanh Dung – 

Member of the Board of Directors 

– Vice General Director 

 

7. Report on activities of the Board of Directors in 2024 

and plan for 2025 

Mrs. Doan Thi Bich Thuy – 

Secretary of the Board of Directors 
 

8. Report of Independent Member of the Board of 

Directors 

Mrs. Tran Thi Thanh Truc – 

member of the Board of Directors 
 

9. Report on activities of The Internal Audit Committee 

in 2024 and Plan for 2025 

Mrs. Tran Thi Thanh Truc – 

Internal Audit Manager 
 

10. Report on proposal no. 1 of the Board of Director 

for issues that consult the General Meeting of 

Shareholders 

Mrs. Nguyen Thanh Dung – 

Member of the Board of Directors 

 

11. Report on proposal no. 2 of the Board of Directors  

for electing the Board of Directors for the term 

2025-2029 

Mrs. Nguyen Thi Bich Lien – Vice 

Chairman of the Board of 

Directors 

12. Report on proposal no. 03 of the Board of Directors 

for investment plan of production lines 

Mrs. Nguyen Thi Bich Lien – Vice 

Chairman of the Board of 

Directors 

13. Approve Regulation of electing, vote counting, 

voting 

Mrs. Doan Thi Bich Thuy – Head 

of Vote Counting Board 

14. Vote issues mentioned on proposals of the Board of 

Directors 
 

15. Shareholders vote on issues and give the vote Mrs.  Doan Thi Bich Thuy and 

Mrs. Nguyen Thi Hong Thu – Vote 

Counting Board 

 

16. Vote counting board counts vote cards and election 

cards 
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Nghỉ giải lao, dùng tiệc Trà 
 

 

17. Công bố kết quả kiểm phiếu biểu quyết, phiếu bầu 

cử Announce result of counting vote cards and 

election cards 

Mrs. Doan Thi Bich Thuy  
 

18. Công bố Biên bản và Nghị quyết ĐH Announce 

minute and resolution of the General Meeting of 

Shareholders 

Mrs. Le Thi Thoa – the meeting 

secretariat 
 

19. Close procedure 
Mr. Nguyen Thanh Nghia – 

Chairman of the Board of Director 
 

   

                                                                                   ORGANIZATION DEPARTMENT 
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Binh Duong Province, June 09th 2025 

 

REGULATION ON ORGANIZATION 

AT THE 2025 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS 

DATED JUNE 30TH 2025 

 
Article 1: ORDER IN THE GENERAL MEETING 

1)  Shareholders attending the meeting room must sit in the correct position. 

2)  No private conversations, no disorder. Turn off mobile phone or change to silent 

mode 

3)  Shareholders must attend full of the meeting. If leave the meeting before ending, 

shareholders have to contact to Organization Department to inform about their feedback (by 

official letter) of issues which vote in the General meeting. In case Shareholders leave the 

meeting without announcement means they agree with all issues which voted in the meeting. 

Article 2: VOTING OF GENERAL MEETING 

 Issues of the General Meeting must be approved by direct vote at the General Meeting. 

Each Shareholder is entitled to receive: 

1) One “Vote card” to vote for approving general/regular contents in the General 

Meeting.  

Shareholders vote “agree” or “disagree” to approve general/regular contents at the 

General Meeting by show of the vote card. 

 2) One “Ballot card” is used to approve issues of resolution of the General Meeting of 

Shareholders. 

Tick on  agree or  disagree or  no comment to vote for approving each issue of 

resolution. Ballot card which not tick is blank card. 

Article 3: STATING OPINION AT THE GENERAL MEETING 

 1)Regulation 

When Shareholders attended the General Meeting would like to state opinion, should 

fullfill on form of Register Card (as sample) and send to Organization Department or vote by 

show of hand and get Chairperson’s allowance.  

In order to keep order, Shareholders who registered will priority speak first when 

discussing. Shareholders who vote by show of hand will speak then. Shareholders will speak 

according to Chairperson’s arrangement. 

 2)  Discussing method 

-  Shareholders state the opinion briefly and focus on content need to discuss and 

relates to the meeting agenda. 

-  Chairperson will arrange order of answering Shareholders’ questions, answer 

question simultaneously. Complicated issues which Chairpersion has not have enough time to 

answer directly at the General Meeting will be answered later by official letter. Chairperson 
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has right to warn or request Shareholder focus on content need to discuss to save time and 

ensure quality of the meeting. 

Article 4: RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITY OF CHAIRPERSON 

1)  Proceeds the General Meeting under the ratified agenda and regulations of the 

General Meeting. 

2)  Guide the General Meeting discuss and get there vote about issue mentioned on the 

agenda of the General Meeting and concenred issue. 

3)  Chairperson has right to use suitable solution to proceed the General Meeting 

logically, orderly and correctly according to the ratified agenda. 

 4)  Chairperson has right: 

-  Require the meeting participants under checking or other security methods; 

-  Expel those who not follow proceed right of Chairperson, deliberately disturb or not 

follow security requirements. 

 5) Delay the Annual General Meeting which is enough meeting participants according 

to regulation to other period in case there are person who not follow proceed right of 

Chairperson, deliberately disturb or threatens to obstruct the fair and legal progress of the 

meeting. 

6)  Solve problem arising during the General Meeting. 

Article 5: RESPONSIBILITY OF THE SECRETARIAT 

1)  Record fully and honestly contents of the General Meeting and ratified issue by 

Shareholders or note at the General Meeting. 

2)  Draft minute of meeting, resolution of the General Meeting about ratified issues. 

Article 6: RESPONSIBILITY OF VOTE COUNTING BOARD 

1)  Specify result of the Shareholders’s voting of retified issuea at The General 

Meeting and inform quickly to the Secretariat about the voting result. 

2)  Organize to check the vote, draft the vote counting minute and report the voting 

result of the Annual General Meeting. 

3)  Consider and report to the General Meeting to decide breach of regulation or claim 

of election. 

Article 7: MINUTES OF MEETING 

-  All contents at the General Meeting shall be recorded by the secretariat in the 

Minute of Meeting. Minute of Meeting shall be read and approved before closing of the 

General Meeting. 

Article 8: This regulation included 8 articles, applied to organize the 2025 Annual General 

Meeting of Dai Thien Loc Corporation, is retified by the Board of Directors dated June 09th 

2025. 

 

 ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

                                                                                                CHAIRMAN 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                                                   MR. NGUYEN THANH NGHIA 
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  Binh Duong, June 09th 2025 

 

REPORT ON PRODUCTION – BUSINESS IN 2024 

PLAN FOR 2025 
 

I. RESULTS OF BUSINESS OPERATIONS IN 2024 

1. General: 

- In 2024, The global situation continues to evolve in a complex and unpredictable 

manner. Armed conflicts are escalating, strategic competition among major powers is 

becoming increasingly intense, many countries are adopting more protectionist trade 

policies, public debt and budget deficits are rising, and disruptions in global supply 

chains have partially impacted global peace, stability, and economic growth. However, 

the world economy is gradually stabilizing as global goods trade improves, inflationary 

pressures ease, financial market conditions continue to loosen, and the labor market 

shows positive signs of recovery. 

- In the industrial and construction sectors, both industry and construction have 

shown positive recovery and strong growth compared to 2023. Although the real estate 

market has seen some changes, they remain unclear, and there is significant pressure 

from maturing corporate bond repayments. Exchange rate fluctuations and external 

inflationary pressures continue to be potential risks affecting economic stability. In 

2024, Vietnam recorded a significant increase in the number of businesses exiting the 

market, with approximately 173,000 enterprises ceasing operations or being dissolved. 

This partly reflects the challenges related to operating costs, capital access, and market 

competition. Many small and medium-sized enterprises have been affected by rising 

production costs and competitive pressure from larger companies. 

- In 2024, Vietnam's steel industry experienced a year of significant fluctuations, 

ranging from raw material price volatility and challenges in production and 

consumption, to government support policies. 

- Inventory levels remained relatively high in 2024. Some products had been 

manufactured for years but still had not been sold. 

2. Result of business operations in 2024: 

a. About sale volume:  

The total annual sales volume reached 106.674.715 kg, an increase of 50.542 kg 

compared to 2023. 

b. Domestic business: 

The net revenue from sales of goods and services in 2024 reached VND 

1.966.791.543.526, a decrease of 0,24% compared to 2023. However, profit after tax 
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reached VND 4.252.561.514. The decline in sales volume and revenue compared to 

2023 stemmed from the following reasons:: 

- The emergence of numerous competitors, both domestic and from China, offering 

a wide range of quality, specifications, pricing segments, and sales policies. 

Supply exceeded demand, giving customers more choices. As a result, the number 

of customers using the company's products decreased by 29,31% compared to 

2023. 

- Despite efforts made in 2024, none of the business division’s staff members were 

able to meet the planned targets. This indicates that the company's sales team 

remains understaffed, market development efforts are still insufficient, and there 

is a lack of tailored sales policies for specific customer segments to attract and 

retain clients. Additionally, the management and operational capacity of the 

leadership team remains weak. 

- The Marketing team has shown weaknesses, failing to develop short-term, mid-

term, and long-term marketing strategies. There is no brand promotion plan 

tailored for each market, leading to a decline in brand recognition for Đại Thiên 

Lộc. Additionally, there are no effective incentive policies to attract potential 

customers, no targeted advertising plans for specific markets, and no initiatives to 

improve brand identity for the company’s products. 

- Product quality has improved, and most of the issues previously reported by 

customers have been resolved. However, new types of product defects have emerged. 

This indicates that the company's quality control process remains weak, as defective 

products are still being delivered to customers. The consequences go beyond the cost of 

handling complaints—they also lead to a decline in the company’s reputation and brand 

image. 

- In 2024, the domestic sales division faced intense competition from both local 

manufacturers and producers from China. While domestic manufacturers increasingly 

diversified their product lines across a range of market segments from low-end to high-

end Chinese producers primarily focused on the low-cost segment. To remain 

competitive, the company must upgrade and renovate its entire production lines to 

improve and stabilize product quality, reduce production costs, and minimize raw 

material and input wastage. These efforts are essential to strengthening the company’s 

competitiveness against other manufacturers in the same industry, regaining market 

position, and expanding its domestic market share. 

- Revenue structure by region: Southeast region: 34,86%, Mekong Delta: 31,93%, 

Northern region: 27,97%, Central and Central Highlands: 5,23%. 

c. Export Business: 

- Revenue from export business is not too big. 

- The year 2024 was highly challenging for export markets due to a series of trade 

safeguard and anti-dumping cases from importing countries. In addition, the company 

lacked sufficient production capacity to meet export order requirements such as 

thickness, coating layers, tensile strength, and quality control standards. 
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- However, 2025 is projected to be a growth year for exports, as the Cold Coating 

Line No.1 Renovation Project is expected to be completed in Quarter 2. The company 

aims to achieve 80,000 tons of exports per year, with galvanized steel as the core export 

product. 

2. About production 

 Advantage:  

- The company is fully equipped with production lines and machinery for all stages 

of the manufacturing process, including pickling, cold rolling, leveling, edge 

trimming, galvanizing, cold coating, color coating, and pipe production. 

- All production, repair, and maintenance activities consistently receive timely 

direction and support from the company’s Chairman. 

- The company actively facilitates opportunities for engineers and staff on the 

production lines to explore and learn about new machinery, equipment, and 

technologies. 

 Challenges: 

Due to difficulties that have negatively impacted the company’s business 

performance, there has been a lack of production orders, resulting in prolonged machine 

downtime. The average operating time of the production lines is as follows: 

- Galvalume line: 37 days on average (approximately 1 month and 7 days). 

- Color Coating line: 77 days on average (approximately 2 months and 17 days) 

- Cold Rolled line no.3: 77 days on average (approximately 2 months and 17 days) 

- Cold Rolled line no.4: 67 days on average (approximately 2 months and 7 days) 

- Cold Rolled line no.5: 12 days. 

- Pickling line: 69 days on average (approximately 2 months and 17 days) 

- Pipe line: 07 days. 

Extended machine downtime leads to numerous consequences: rising costs, 

equipment damage when restarting production, uncompetitive product pricing, 

increased consumption of raw materials, and a high proportion of second-grade and 

defective products.,… 

Additionally, unexpected machine stoppages during production still occur due to 

mechanical and electrical faults. Many production lines have been in operation for years, 

causing some equipment to degrade and become technologically outdated. 

There is also no established staffing plan for each production shift to ensure 

optimal operation of the lines. Both managers and machine operators lack sufficient 

knowledge and experience to effectively handle issues arising during the production 

process. 

 Overall Assessment: 

All production lines across the entire factory failed to meet the planned targets in 

both output and quality, as set and approved by the Executive Board. The primary 

reasons are the low volume of production orders and the high proportion of grade 1B 

and grade 2 products. 
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 Finished product output in 2024 compared to 2023: 

Line 

Planned 

quantity in 

2024 

(mt/year) 

Actual 

quantity in 

2024 

(kgs) 

Actual 

quantity in 

2024 

(kgs) 

2024/2023 

Percentage 

of grade 

01 

Pickling linr - 11,548,331 - -  

Cold Rolled line no. 3 108,000 8,310,110 7,828,890 106% 

63.25% Cold Rolled line no. 4 144,000 7,350,321 - - 

Cold Rolled line no. 5 144,000 317,865 1,166,105 27% 

Galvalume line no.2 90,000 13,942,010 9,890,080 141% 92.61% 

Color coating line 55,000 7,721,595 4,092,770 189% 93.05% 

Tension level line 

no.1 
 2,973,325 5,287,195 

56% 

 

Tension level line 

no.2 
 17,631,310 9,098,670 

194% 

 

Pipe line  19,572 487,908 4%  

Slitting line, 

corrugation 

machine,…. 
 524,413 1,878,572 

28% 

 

Total   70,338,852 39,730,190 177%  

 

3. Human Resources Situation 

- Workforce: As of December 31, 2024, the total number of employees was 170. 

Among them, 54 employees (31.76%) hold university or college degrees; 37 

employees (21.76%) have intermediate-level qualifications or technical worker status; 

and 79 employees (46.47%) are unskilled laborers. 

- Average Income: The average income was 9,934,718 VND per person, an 

increase of 19.14% compared to 2023. Despite 2024 being a challenging year for the 

company due to unfavorable business conditions and tighter bank credit limits, the 

company’s leadership still considered salary adjustments and workload distribution 

during production stoppages to ensure employees' living standards and boost their 

morale. 

- Labor Policies and Benefits: The company fully complies with labor policies, 

including social insurance (BHXH), health insurance (BHYT), and other benefits as 

regulated by the government. 

- Accidents: There were 9 accident cases reported in the year, mainly due to 

employee negligence, carelessness, and failure to follow proper labor procedures and 

regulations. No fatal occupational accidents occurred.  

- Labor Discipline: The company handled 22 disciplinary cases (an increase of 3 

cases compared to 2023) and issued warnings to several other employees.  

4. Social and Charity Activiti 

In 2024, the company continued to prioritize social and charitable work in line 

with its established mission. The total amount allocated by the company for these 

activities was 103,137,500 VND. 



 

5/8 
 

II. PLAN FOR 2025 

 In the context of the global economy in 2025, it is forecasted to gradually return to a 

growth trajectory with a clearer recovery trend. However, the global economy still faces 

numerous risks and challenges such as political conflicts and tensions, a fragile global 

supply chain due to political instability and supply shortages, inflation easing but 

remaining at high levels, risks of rising interest rates, and increasing exchange rate 

volatility. 

 Additionally, new economic policies under the administration of U.S. President 

Donald Trump are expected to have a significant impact on the global economic landscape 

in general and on many countries, including Vietnam. The following are some of the key 

opportunities and challenges: 

1. Opportunities 

- All employees consistently receive close attention and guidance from the 

Chairman and the company’s leadership team. 

- The company is gradually updating advanced technologies, replacing outdated 

equipment, and upgrading its production lines. 

- The company has fully repaired and maintained the Continuous Pickling Line, 

increasing production capacity by five times compared to before, ensuring timely and 

sufficient supply of raw materials for the cold rolling lines. The average output reaches 

500,000 tons per year. 

- The company has also completed repairs on Leveling Lines 1 and 2 along with 

auxiliary systems (such as the air compressor system, wastewater treatment system, and 

shaft grinding machines...)  

2. Challenges 

- The domestic market is highly competitive. Local manufacturers are 

continuously investing to expand production, while an increasing number of imported 

products from China offer competitive prices and diverse specifications.  

- Quality control still falls short of requirements, with product defects not being 

thoroughly identified, resulting in ongoing customer complaints that harm the 

company’s reputation. The loss of potential export markets remains a major challenge 

as product quality has yet to stabilize.   

- There is a shortage of skilled personnel and experienced management staff in 

production, which does not fully meet the demands of the production lines.  

- Some banks have reduced or suspended credit limits for the company. 

3. Production and business plan for 2025 

 Revenue Volume 

Donestic business 2.260 billion dong  

Export business 5 million USD  

Profit after tax 18 billion dong  

PO coil   400.000 mts 

Cold roll coil (3)  70.000 mts 
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Grade 1: 95%, grade 1B 1B: 

4%, grade 2: 1%. 

Cold roll coil (4)  120.000 mts 

Grade 1: 95%, grade 1B: 4%, 

grade 2: 1%. 

Cold roll coil (5)   

 

120.000 mts 

Grade 1: 95%, grade 1B: 4%, 

grade 2: 1%. 

Galvalume 1 

Specialized in 

prodcuing 

Galvanized/Galvalume 

coil which high 

quality. 

 300.000 mts 

Grade 1: 98% (for raw 

materials is grade 1), garde 1B: 

1%, grade 2: 1% 

Galvalume 2 

Specialized in 

prodcuing Galvalume 

coil. 

 96.000 mts 

Grade 1: 98% (for raw 

materials is grade 1), garde 1B: 

1%, grade 2: 1% 

Color coating products   55.000 mts 

Loại 1: 98%, loại 1B: 1%,  

L2: 1% 

Pipe products   4.000 mts (aiming Galvanized 

pipe) 

4. Investion Plan for 2025 

- The company will complete the renovation and repair project of Cold Coating 

Line 1 in Q1/2025, aiming to expand the range of products to meet export demands to 

the U.S. and European markets. 

- The renovation project for Cold Coating Line 2 will be initiated and completed 

in Q4/2025. 

- A contract will be signed to hire foreign experts to complete the repair of Cold 

Rolling Line 5 in Q1/2025. 

- Inspection and maintenance will be carried out on the remaining production lines 

5. Measures for Implementing the Plan 

 Organization: 

- Continue recruiting personnel to meet the required staffing levels for all 

production lines. 

- Strengthen training and coaching on Occupational Safety and Health (OSH), Fire 

Prevention and Fighting (FPF), and Environmental Hygiene (EH) for relevant staff to 

improve professional skills and raise awareness of labor responsibility, thereby reducing 

labor discipline violations. 

- Increase recruitment and deployment of labor supervision staff to conduct 

inspection and monitoring of labor activities in the production division. 
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- Enhance training programs on chemical safety, radiation safety, and other 

relevant safety area. 

- Update current legal regulations and apply for necessary certifications as required 

by authorities and regulatory agencies. 

  Production: 

- Develop a procedure to control the consumption of raw materials, supplies, and 

tools used in production across all production lines and supporting departments. 

- Establish inspection procedures before, during, and after production runs to 

closely monitor equipment and machinery on the production lines, minimizing 

downtime caused by mechanical failures during the manufacturing process. 

- Draft quality assessment standards for each product category (cold rolling, 

leveling, edge trimming, coil unloading, cold-rolled steel, galvanized steel, color-coated 

steel, steel pipes) along with a staffing plan to ensure proper quality supervision on the 

production lines.  

- Continue recruiting additional production management personnel with 

specialized expertise in steel and tinplate manufacturing to support the current line 

managers. 

  Business and marketing: 

- Develop specific regulations on discounts, gifts, and promotional programs 

tailored for each customer group and individual market. 

- Establish a network of agents in each province with supportive policies on credit 

and transportation to enhance the company’s competitive capacity. 

- Create clear work plans for each sales staff to maximize the effectiveness of 

business trips, customer visits, new client acquisition, product introductions, and 

communication of company policies. 

- Focus sales development in the Central Highlands region, while maintaining and 

boosting growth in other potential areas such as the Southeast and Mekong Delta 

regions. 

- Prioritize the development of steel pipe products. Although this segment is highly 

competitive, its sales volume is larger and more stable compared to coated steel sheets. 

- Strengthen nationwide marketing and advertising efforts through various media 

channels to promote the company’s products. Continue installing and upgrading 

advertising signage with improved durability. 

- Organize customer seminars in selected provinces to introduce products. 

- Restructure pricing and product strategies. 

- Develop mid-range product lines to directly compete with imported goods. 

- Build a pricing schedule for processing services such as pickling, cold rolling, 

cold coating, and color coating, including input requirements and regulations. This cost 

schedule must be approved once by the management board and then adjusted up or down 

depending on raw material costs. 

The above is the Production and Business Results Report for 2024 and the Plan for 

2025 of Dai Thien Loc Joint Stock Company. 
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Respectfully submitted to the General Meeting of Shareholders for consideration and 

approval. 

Sincerely! 

 ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF 

DIRECTOR 

CHAIRMAN 

 

 

 

 

 

  MR. NGUYEN THANH NGHIA 

 

  

 



 

1 
 

DAI THIEN LOC CORPORATION 
Address: Block CN8, Road CN5, Song Than III IP, Phu Tan Ward, Thu Dau Mot City, 
Binh Duong Province, Vietnam 
Tell: 0274.3719999     Fax: 0274.3849111/222 
Email: sales@daithienloc.com.vn – dtl@daithienloc.com.vn 
Website: www.daithienloc.com.vn 

 

 DỰ THẢO                                             Binh Duong, June 09th 2025  

  

REPORT ON ACTIVITIES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

IN 2024 

 

I. Evaluation of the Activities of the Board of Directors (the BOD) 

1. Operation status: 

- As of December 31, 2024, the Board of Directors (BOD) consists of 4 

members.  

+ Mr. Nguyen Thanh Nghia – Chairman of the BOD. 

+ Mrs. Nguyen Thi Bich Lien – Vice Chairman of the BOD. 

+ Mrs. Nguyen Thanhh Dung – Member of the BOD. 

+ Mr. Nguyen Van Sau – Member of the BOD. Dismissed on June 26th 2024. 

+ Mrs. Tran Thi Thanh Truc – Independent. Appointed on June 26th 2024. 

- The Company is currently operating under the organizational model specified in 

Point b, Clause 1, Article 137 of the Law on Enterprises 2020, which includes 

an Audit Committee under the BOD, with the following two members: 

+ Mrs. Tran Thi Thanh Truc – Member of the BOD. Position: Chairwoman of 

the Audit Committee. 

+ Mrs. Nguyen Thi Bich Lien – Non – executive member of the BOD. Position: 

member of the Audit Committee.  

- The Board of Directors operates in full compliance with legal regulations, the 

Company’s Charter, and the Resolutions of the General Meeting of 

Shareholders and the BOD. All BOD members perform their duties and 

responsibilities in accordance with the current Operational Regulations. 

2. Achievements: 

- In 2024, the Vietnamese steel industry experienced a year of significant 

fluctuations — from raw material prices and difficulties in production and 

consumption, to government support policies — all of which created challenges 

for business operations and planning.  

- The business performance results are as follows: 

o Total consumption volume for the year reached 106,674,715 kg, an 

increase of 50,542 kg compared to 2023. 

o Revenue: Net revenue from sales of goods and services in 2024 amounted 

to VND 1,966,791,543,526, a decrease of 0.24% compared to 2023. 

o Net profit after tax: VND 4,252,561,514. 
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3. Shareholder Relations: 

 The Company fulfilled its reporting obligations and information disclosure 

requirements to regulatory authorities and investors in accordance with the legal 

regulations applicable to listed companies. 

II.  Summary of the Board of Directors' Activities in 2024: 

1. Meetings and Resolutions of the Board of Directors in 2024: 

- Successfully organized the 2024 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders on 

June 26, 2024; 

- Held 10 meetings and issued 13 Resolutions, as follows:  

 

No.  
Resolution/Decision 

No. 
Date Content 

Approval 

rate 

1 01/2024/NQ-HĐQT 31/01/2024 

Approval of signing Sales contract with 

Dai Thien Loc Steel One Member 

Limited Company (Subsidiary of Dai 

Thien Loc Corporation) 

100% 

2 02/2024/NQ-HĐQT 31/01/2024 

Approval of signing Sales contract with 

Dai Thien Loc Steel One Member 

Limited Company (subsidiary of Dai 

Thien Loc Corporation), with Tam Duc 

Steel Manufacturing Company Limited 

(The company is owned by related 

person) 

100% 

3 03/2024/NQ-HĐQT 31/01/2024 

Approval of loan transaction betwwen 

Dai Thien Loc Steel One Member 

Limited Company (Subsidiary of Dai 

Thien Loc Corporation) and Mr. Nguyen 

Thanh Nghia 

100% 

4 04/2024/NQ-HĐQT 31/01/2024 

Approval of temporary loan transaction 

betwwen Dai Thien Loc Steel One 

Member Limited Company (Subsidiary 

of Dai Thien Loc Corporation) and Mr. 

Nguyen Thanh Nghia 

100% 

5 05/2024/NQ-HĐQT 05/02/2024 

Approval of confirmation the list of 

shareholders to hold the Annual General 

Meeting of Shareholders 2024 

100% 

6 06/2024/NQ-HĐQT 08/04/2024 
Approval of extending the Annual 

General Meeting of Shareholders 2024 
100% 

7 07/2024/NQ-HĐQT 10/05/2024 

Approval of loan transaction with Sai 

Gon Thuong Tin Commercial Joint 

Stock Bank – Go Vap Branch 

100% 

8 08/2024/NQ-HĐQT 16/05/2024 

Approval of changing Chairman of 

Subsidiary company – Dai Thien Loc 

Steel One Member Limited Company 

100% 
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9 09/2024/NQ-HĐQT 04/06/2024 

Approval of loan transaction betwwen 

Dai Thien Loc Steel One Member 

Limited Company (Subsidiary of Dai 

Thien Loc Corporation) and Mr. Nguyen 

Thanh Nghia – Chairman of Board of 

Directors. 

100% 

10 10/2024/NQ-HĐQT 10/06/2024 

Approval of mortgaging  assets at Vietnam 

Bank for Agriculture and Rural 

Development - Song Than Industrial Park 

Branch. 

100% 

11 11/2024/NQ-HĐQT 13/06/2024 

Approval of project of manufacturing and 

trading iron, steel coil and borrowing 

capital at Vietnam Bank for Agriculture 

and Rural Development - Song Than 

Industrial Park Branch. 

100% 

12 12/2024/NQ-HĐQT 26/06/2024 
Approval of appointing Chairman of the 

Audit Committee 
100% 

13 13/2024/NQ-HĐQT 27/08/2024 

Approval of loan transaction between 

Dai Thien Loc Corportion and Mr. 

Nguyen Thanh Nghia – Chairman of the 

Board of Directors. 

100% 

 

2. Activities of Individual Members of the Board of Directors 

- Mr. Nguyen Thanh Nghia – Chairman of BOD (elected on January 05th 2022): 

overall responsibility;  

- Mrs. Nguyen Thi Bich Lien – Vice Chairman of the BOD (elected on January 

05th 2022)Bà Nguyễn Thị Bích Liên – Phó Chủ tịch HĐQT (được bầu ngày 

05/01/2022): Responsible for oversight, evaluation, and providing independent 

opinions on resolutions, decisions, and other activities of the Board; 

- Mrs. Nguyễn Thanh Dung – Member of the Board of Directors: Responsible for 

market development strategies, product promotion, and marketing; 

- Mr. Nguyễn Văn Sáu – Independent Member of the Board of Directors: 

Responsible for oversight, evaluation, and providing independent opinions on 

resolutions, decisions, and other activities of the Board; 

- Mrs. Trần Thị Thanh Trúc – Independent Member of the Board of Directors: 

Responsible for oversight, evaluation, and providing independent opinions on 

resolutions, decisions, and other activities of the Board. 

3. Activities of the Audit Committee 

 In 2024, the Audit Committee convened meetings to supervise and review the 

following areas: 

- Reviewed and evaluated the performance of the Board of Directors, the Executive 

Board, and the Company’s management system throughout the fiscal year 

regarding the implementation of the financial plan and operational plan for 2024 

as approved by the General Meeting of Shareholders. 
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- Assessed the appropriateness of the decisions made by the Board of Directors and 

the Executive Board in management activities; monitored the procedures and 

issuance of the Company’s internal regulations to ensure compliance with legal 

regulations and the Company’s charter. 

- Supervised the accuracy and integrity of the Company’s financial statements and 

official disclosures related to its financial performance. 

- Performed other duties in accordance with the Company’s Charter, the Audit 

Committee’s operating regulations, and relevant legal provisions. 

 

 Assessment of the Implementation of the 2024 General Meeting of 

Shareholders’ Resolution 

- The Board of Directors has implemented the resolutions of the General 

Meeting of Shareholders in strict compliance with the provisions of the 

Securities Law, the Law on Enterprises, and the Company’s Charter. 

III. Results of the Board of Directors' supervision of the Executive Board and 

management 

1. The Board of Directors' assessment of the company's operations: 

- The year 2024 continued to be a challenging year for the company’s business 

activities. 

- The Board of Directors operated in accordance with the Company Charter and 

the Law on Enterprises. The Board closely followed the company’s actual 

situation to fully and promptly implement the resolutions of the General 

Meeting of Shareholders. 

2. Board of Directors’ evaluation of the activities of the Company’s Executive 

Board: 

- In 2024, the Executive Board consistently accompanied and implemented the 

decisions of the Board of Directors. They developed specific plans for business 

organization, customer care, and assessing the financial capacity of each customer to 

apply special policies. At the same time, they closely monitored production activities 

to promptly make necessary adjustments. 

- The Board of Directors regularly monitored the activities of the Executive 

Board and other management operations. 

- The Executive Board fulfilled the targets and plans set by the General Meeting 

of Shareholders and the Board of Directors. 

- They implemented the resolutions of the General Meeting of Shareholders, the 

Board of Directors, and the decisions issued by the Board regarding progress and 

execution measures. 
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- The Board regularly reviewed and assessed the implementation of the 

production and business plans to provide timely guidance to the Executive Board, 

ensuring the company’s resource requirements for its activities were met. 

IV. Remuneration, operating expenses, and other benefits of the Board of Directors 

(BOD), the Audit Committee (AC), and the Supervisory Board (SB) in 2024: 

 

No. Full name Position  
Salary, rewards, 

Remuneration 

1 
Mr. Nguyen Thanh 

Nghia 

Chairman of the Board of 

Directors 
13.911.800 

2 
Mrs. Nguyen Thi 

Bich Lien 

Vice Chairman of the 

Board of Directors 
123.575.600 

3 
Ms. Nguyen Thanh 

Dung 

Board Member – Deputy 

General Director 
   376.980.800 

4 Mr. Nguyen Van Sau 

Chairman of the Audit 
Committee and Board 
Member (From 
29/06/2023 to 
26/06/2024) 

11.000.0000 

5 
Ms. Doan Thi Bich 

Thuy 

Head of Internal Audit 

Department 
176.929.700 

6 
Ms. Nguyen Thi Thu 

Thao 

Member of the Internal 

Audit Department 
   160.580.600 

7 
Ms. Nguyen Thi 

Hong Thu 

Member of the Internal 

Audit Department 
172.696.100 

 

V. Board of Directors’ Plan for 2025: 

1. Operational Plan:: 

- The Board of Directors (BOD) will strictly perform corporate governance duties 

in accordance with the regulations on corporate governance applicable to listed 

companies, the Company Charter, and the corporate governance regulations. 

- The BOD will lead and supervise the Executive Board’s activities, providing 

the best possible conditions for the Executive Board to carry out assigned tasks 

as per the resolutions of the General Meeting of Shareholders and the BOD. 

- The BOD will ensure the Audit Committee has the best possible conditions to 

effectively perform its functions and assigned duties. 

- The BOD will strive to maintain business production activities to ensure income 

and stabilize the livelihood of employees. 

 

2. Production and business plan for 2025: 
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Based on the business production results of 2024 and the market forecast for 2025, the 

Board of Directors respectfully submits the following plan for approval by the General 

Meeting of Shareholders. 

a. Business: 

Target  

Revenue 2.260 billion dong 

Including: Export 5 million USD 

Profit 73 billion dong 

 

b. Production: 

Volume of finished products: 1.165.000 metric tons. Quality: 96% of grade 1. 

 

Above is the 2024 Board of Directors’ report and the 2025 plan of the Board of 

Directors of Dai Thien Loc Joint Stock Company. Submitted respectfully for the 

General Meeting’s discussion! 

 

 

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF 

DIRECTOR 

CHAIRMAN 

 

 

 

 
  MR. NGUYEN THANH NGHIA 
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DAI THIEN LOC CORPORATION 
Address: Block CN8, Road CN5, Song Than III IP, Phu Tan Ward, Thu Dau Mot City, Binh 
Duong Province, Vietnam 
Tell: 0274.3719999     Fax: 0274.3849111/222 
Email: sales@daithienloc.com.vn – dtl@daithienloc.com.vn 
Website: www.daithienloc.com.vn 

  

 No.: 01/BC-UBKT/DTL                           Binh Duong, June 09th 2025 
 

REPORT ON THE ACTIVITIES OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE  

IN 2024 

 

Based on: 

 The Law on Enterprises and the Company’s Charter stipulating the functions, 

duties, and powers of the Audit Committee; 

 The 2024 financial statements audited by RSM Vietnam Auditing & Consulting 

Co., Ltd.; 

 The results of inspection and supervision activities conducted by the Audit 

Committee in 2024. 

 

The Audit Committee (AC) of Dai Thien Loc Joint Stock Company hereby reports to the 

2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders on the following matters: 

 

I. INTRODUCTION TO THE AUDIT COMMITTEE 

- At the 2021 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders, amendments and 

supplements to the Company’s Charter and the Board of Directors' Operational 

Regulations were approved. Accordingly, on July 21, 2021, the Company issued 

Resolution No. 09/2021/NQ-BOD regarding the establishment of the Audit Committee 

under the Board of Directors and the issuance of its Operational Regulations. 

- Members of the Audit Committee in 2024 include: 

1. Mr. Nguyen Van Sau – Independent Member of the Board of Directors. 

Position: Chairman of the Audit Committee (dismissed on June 26, 2024). 

2. Ms. Nguyen Thi Bich Lien – Non-executive Member of the Board of Directors. 

Position: Member of the Audit Committee. 

3. Ms. Tran Thi Thanh Truc – Independent Member of the Board of Directors. 

Position: Chairwoman of the Audit Committee (appointed on June 26, 2024). 

 

II. ACTIVITIES OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE 

   1. Operational Overview: 

In 2024, the Audit Committee held two meetings to supervise and inspect the following 

areas: 

- Reviewed and evaluated the performance of the Board of Directors, the Executive 

Management (General Director), and the Company’s management system 

mailto:sales@daithienloc.com.vn
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throughout the fiscal year in relation to the implementation of the 2024 financial 

and operational plans approved by the General Meeting of Shareholders. 

- Assessed the appropriateness of decisions made by the Board of Directors and the 

General Director in management activities; monitored the procedures and processes 

for issuing internal regulations to ensure compliance with legal requirements and 

the Company’s Charter. 

- Supervised the accuracy and integrity of the Company’s financial statements and 

the official disclosure of financial results. 

- Performed other duties as stipulated in the Company’s Charter, the Operational 

Regulations of the Audit Committee, and applicable laws. 

- Remuneration of the Audit Committee: Payment of remuneration, salaries, and 

other benefits to members of the Audit Committee. 

No. Full name Position 
Salary, rewards, 

Remuneration 

1 Mr. Nguyen Van Sau  

Chairman of the Audit 

Committee and Board 

Member 

11,000,000 

2 Mrs. Nguyen Thi Bich Lien 

Vice Chairman of the 

Board of Directors and 

member of the Audit 

Committee 

123.575.600 

3 Mrs. Tran Thi Thanh Truc   

Member of the Board 

of Directors and 

Chairwomen of the 

Audit Committee 

0 

 

2. Results of Oversight on the Company’s Financial Statements, Operations, and 

Financial Position: 

 The Company has prepared and disclosed its financial statements in accordance 

with the regulations of the State Securities Commission of Vietnam and 

applicable laws. 

 The auditor’s opinion on the financial statements is an unqualified opinion. The 

Company's business performance in 2024 is fully and clearly reflected in the 

financial statements. The statements present a true, complete, and fair view of the 

Company’s financial position and business results, in accordance with 

Vietnamese Accounting Standards, the Vietnamese corporate accounting regime, 

and relevant legal regulations. 

 During the year, the Audit Committee did not identify any unusual or irregular 

cases in the Company’s financial activities. 
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 Business Performance Results for 2024: 

No. Target  Result in 2024  

01 Revenue:  1.966.791.543.526 dong  

02 Profit after tax:     4.252.561.514 dong  

     

1. Assessment Report on Transactions Between the Company, Its Subsidiaries, and 

Other Entities Under Its Control (over 50% of Charter Capital) with Members of 

the Board of Directors, the General Director, Other Executives, and Their 

Related Parties; Transactions Between the Company and Entities Where Such 

Individuals Are Founding Members or Managers Within the Past 3 Years Prior 

to the Transaction: 

 No violations of legal regulations, requirements of regulatory authorities, or the 

Company’s internal policies were detected. 

2. Assessment Results of the Company’s Internal Control and Risk Management 

Systems: 

- Activities across the entire company have been monitored and controlled at all 

levels in accordance with the regulations and requirements set forth by the 

Managemen 

3. Oversight Results on the Board of Directors, General Director, and Other 

Executives of the Company:  

a. Oversight of the Board of Directors' Activities: 

 The Board of Directors (BOD) convened regular quarterly and annual meetings (as 

well as ad-hoc meetings) in accordance with the Company's Charter and 

organizational regulations. The Audit Committee assessed that the BOD operated in 

compliance with legal and internal company regulations, responding promptly to the 

Company’s operational and business requirements throughout the year. 

 The BOD issued Resolutions and Decisions relating to the Company’s operations 

within its scope of responsibility and authority. These Resolutions and Decisions 

were issued in accordance with proper procedures, within the BOD’s jurisdiction, 

and based on appropriate legal grounds as required by law and Company 

regulations. 

 The BOD effectively supervised the Executive Management in the implementation 

of the Resolutions of the General Meeting of Shareholders and in conducting the 

Company’s business activities. The BOD collaborated closely with the Executive 

Management to guide and manage business operations with the goal of achieving the 

targets set in the 2024 business plan approved by the General Meeting of 

Shareholders. 

 Additionally, during the year, the BOD closely coordinated with and supported the 

General Director in effectively managing operations across the Company’s units. 
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b.  Oversight of the General Director and Other Executives’ Activities: 

- The General Director and Executive Management fully and promptly implemented 

the Resolutions of the Board of Directors, closely adhered to the Resolutions of the 

General Meeting of Shareholders, and strictly complied with State policies and 

regulations in operating the Company’s business activities. 

- The Executive Team regularly held meetings to set strategic development directions 

and outlined business plans based on market demand. 

- In addition, the Executive Team directed the restructuring, recruitment, and 

development of human resources in alignment with the Company’s actual production 

and business needs. 

4. Evaluation of the Coordination Between the Audit Committee and the Board of 

Directors, General Director, and Shareholders: 

- In 2024, the Audit Committee received close cooperation and favorable conditions 

from relevant parties to effectively carry out its inspection and supervision duties. 

The Committee was provided with full access to reports and documentation related 

to corporate governance, business operations, and the Company’s financial situation. 

- Going forward, it is essential to maintain and further enhance the coordination 

between the Audit Committee, the Board of Directors, the General Director, and 

other management departments to strengthen the Company’s oversight and control 

mechanisms. 

5. Evaluation of the Coordination Between the Audit Committee, the Board of 

Directors, the General Director, and Shareholders: 

- In 2024, the Audit Committee received close cooperation and was provided with 

favorable conditions to perform its inspection and supervision duties. The 

Committee was given full access to reports and documents related to corporate 

governance, business operations, and the Company’s financial status. 

- Moving forward, it is necessary to maintain and enhance the close coordination 

between the Audit Committee, the Board of Directors, the General Director, and 

other management departments to strengthen the inspection and supervision 

mechanisms. 

II. Activity Plan for 2025: 

- Review and evaluate the performance of the Board of Directors, the Executive 

Management, and the Company’s management system throughout the year in 

relation to the implementation of the 2025 financial and operational plans. 

- Assess the appropriateness of decisions made by the Board of Directors and the 

Executive Management in management activities; control the procedures and 

processes for issuing the Company’s internal regulations in compliance with legal 

provisions and the Company’s Charter. 

- Supervise the accuracy and integrity of the Company’s financial statements and the 

official disclosures related to the Company’s financial results. 
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- Develop inspection and supervision plans for the Parent Company, subsidiaries, 

and affiliated branches. 

- Perform other tasks as stipulated in the Company’s Charter, the Audit Committee’s 

Operational Regulations, and relevant laws. 

IV. Conclusion and Recommendations conclusion: 

 The Company operates in good compliance with the State’s legal regulations, the 

Company Charter, and effectively implements the resolutions of the General 

Meeting of Shareholders. 

 The Company’s financial situation is clear and transparent. Financial reports are 

fully prepared on a quarterly basis, ensuring accuracy, honesty, and legality. 

Recommendations: 

 The Executive Board and the Company’s management staff should continue to 

support and cooperate with the Audit Committee to minimize risks, improve 

control efficiency, and enhance operational effectiveness to achieve assigned 

goals and tasks. 

 

This completes the full text of the Audit Committee’s report, respectfully submitted 

for discussion at the General Meeting.. 

              

ON BEHALF OF THE AUDIT 

COMMITTEE 

 

 

 

       

MRS. TRAN THI THANH TRUC 



DAI THIEN LOC 

CORPORTION 

SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM 

Independence – Freedom - Happiness 

 Binh Duong, June 09th 2025 

 

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT MEMBER 

AT THE 2025 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS 

 

- Based on the Enterprise Law No. 59/2020/QH14, passed by the National 

Assembly of the Socialist Republic of Vietnam on June 17, 2020, effective from January 

1, 2021; 

- Based on the Charter of Dai Thien Loc Joint Stock Company approved at the 

General Meeting of Shareholders on June 30, 2021; 

- Based on the Rules of Operation of the Board of Directors of Dai Thien Loc Joint 

Stock Company approved at the General Meeting of Shareholders on June 30, 2021; 

The Independent Member of the Board of Directors respectfully submits the 

following report to the General Meeting of Shareholders (GMS): 

 

1. Activities of the Independent Member of the Board of Directors: 

The independent member of the Board of Directors has actively participated in the 

supervision, evaluation, and provided independent opinions on the resolutions, 

decisions, and other activities of the Board. 

2. Independent Member’s Assessment: 
- In the fiscal year 2024, the Board of Directors of Dai Thien Loc Joint Stock 

Company operated in accordance with the contents of the General Meeting of 

Shareholders’ resolutions, ensuring compliance with the Enterprise Law, the 

Company Charter, and the Company’s internal governance regulations, 

guaranteeing transparency and good governance practices. 

- Board meetings were always organized with planned agendas, programs, and 

documents prepared fully in accordance with regulations. 

- Throughout its operations, the Board has effectively fulfilled its supervisory role 

over the CEO and management in implementing the resolutions of the General 

Meeting of Shareholders and the Board of Directors. 

- Board members have always carried out their duties with a high sense of 

responsibility, professionalism, and ensured prudence in performing their roles as 

members of the Board. 

This concludes the activity report and evaluation of the independent member on the 

Board of Directors’ operations in 2024 at Dai Thien Loc Joint Stock Company, 

respectfully submitted to the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders. 

Best regard!  

 

Receive: 
- GMS; 

- Member of the BOD; 

- Save: VT. 

INDEPENDENT MEMBER 

 

 

 MRS. TRAN THI THANH TRUC 

 



DAI THIEN LOC CORPORATION 
Address: Block CN8, Road CN5, Song Than III IP, Phu Tan Ward, Thu Dau Mot City, 
Binh Duong Province, Vietnam 
Tell: 0274.3719999     Fax: 0274.3849111/222 
Email: sales@daithienloc.com.vn – dtl@daithienloc.com.vn 
Website: www.daithienloc.com.vn 

 

          No.: 01/2025/TB-ĐHĐCĐ                                Binh Duong Province, June 09th 2025 

 

NOTICE ON NOMINATING/ SELF-NOMINATING FOR ELECTION OF THE 

MEMBER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

FOR TERM 2025-2029 

 

To: SHAREHOLDERS OF DAI THIEN LOC CORPORATION 

 

- Pursuant to Law on Enterprises no.: 59/2020/QH14 approved by The National 

Assembly of the Socialist Republic of Vietnam on June 17th 2020; 

- Pursuant to The Charter of Dai Thien Loc Corporation; 

- Pursuant to Internal Regulation on Corporate Governance; 

- Pursuant to Regulations on Operation of the Board of Directors. 

 

The Board of Directors of Dai Thien Loc Corporation (Stock symbol: DTL) would 

like to respectfully inform to shareholders about self-nominating and nominating the 

member of the Board of Directors (the BOD) for term 2025-2029, as following: 

 

1. Reason, quantity and term of member of the BOD: 

- The term of the members of the BOD for term 2020-2025 will be end after the 2025 

Annual General Meeting. 

- Quantity of members of the BOD: 4 members. 

- Term: 05 years (2025 – 2029). 

2. Rights to stand for nominate, self-nominate: 

- Shareholder or group of shareholders owning 10% or more of the total common 

shares have the right to self-nominate or nominate candidates for the BOD in accordance 

with the provisions of the Enterprise Law, the Company Charter. Shareholders owning 

common shares have right to aggregate their voting rights to nominate candidates for the 

BOD. Shareholder or group of shareholders holding from 10% to less than 20% of the 

total number of voting shares has right to nominate one (01) candidate; from 20% to less 

than 30% of total number of voting shares has right to nominate two (02) candidates 

maximum; from 30% to less than 40% of total number of voting shares has right to 

nominate three (03) candidates maximum; from 40% to less than 50% of total number of 

voting shares has right to nominate four (04) candidates maximum; from 50% to less than 

60% of total number of voting shares has right to nominate five (05) candidates 

maximum; from 60% to less than 70% of total number of voting shares has right to 
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nominate six (06) candidates maximum; from 70% to less than 80% of total number of 

voting shares has right to nominate seven (07) candidates maximum; from 80% and up 

has right to nominate eight (08) candidates. 

- In case the number of candidates for the BOD through nomination and self-

nomination is still insufficient according to Clause 5, Article 115 of Enterprise Law, the 

incumbent BOD may nominate more candidate or organize the nomination according to 

the provisions of the company Charter, Internal Regulation on Corporate Governance and 

Regulations on Operation of the Board of Directors. The nomination of additional 

candidates by the incumbent BOD must be clearly announced before the General Meeting 

of Shareholders votes to elect members of the BOD according to the provisions of law. 

3. Standards and conditions for election of member of the BOD:  

According to Article 155 of the Enterprise Law no. 59/2020/QH14 and Article 275 of 

Decree no. 155/2020/NĐ-CP.  

4. Instruction for submitting candidacy and nomination documents: 

Shareholders or group of shareholders who are eligible to self-nominate, nominate 

candicates for the BOD, please submit documents to following address: 

DAI THIEN LOC CORPORATION 

Address: Block CN8, Road CN5, Song Than III IP, Phu Tan Ward, Thu Dau Mot City, 

Binh Duong Province, Vietnam 

Investor relation department: Mrs. Doan Thi Bich Thuy  

Tel: 0274.3632048/ 0914.394.290          Fax: 0274.3632048 

Email: thuykt@daithienloc.com.vn 

Deadline for submitting: latest at 16:30, June 29th 2025. 

Documents including:  

+ Candidacy/ Nomination form; 

+ Candidate’s curriculum vitae; 

+ Copy of ID card/ passprt/ population and permanent residence registration, 

certificates certifying educational and professional qualifications... of the 

candidate/nominee; 

+ Valid Power of Attorney. 

Best Regards! 
TON BEHALF OF THE BOD 

                                                                                                  CHAIRMAN  

 

 

 

 

 

                                                                                    MR. NGUYEN THANH NGHIA 
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DAI THIEN LOC CORPORATION 
Address: Block CN8, Road CN5, Song Than III IP, Phu Tan Ward, Thu Dau Mot City, Binh 

Duong Province, Vietnam 

Tell: 0274.3719999     Fax: 0274.3849111/222 

Email: sales@daithienloc.com.vn – dtl@daithienloc.com.vn 

           Website: www.daithienloc.com.vn 

 

ELECTION REGULATIONS 

At the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders 
 

Article 1: Eligible Voters: 

Shareholders who have the right to attend the General Meeting. 

 

Article 2: Criteria for Self-Nomination and Nomination of Board of Directors 

Members and the Number of Members to Be Elected for the 2025-2029 Term 

- Individual shareholders holding 10% or more of the total common shares, or others 

who hold a university degree, possess professional qualifications, and have 

experience in business management or in the Company’s main industry or business 

sector, have the right to self-nominate as candidates for the Board of Directors 

(BOD). 

- Shareholders or groups of shareholders holding 10% or more of the common shares 

may pool their votes together to nominate candidates for the BOD. 

- The number of BOD members to be elected at this General Meeting is four (4) 

 

Article 3: Ballots and Voting Procedures 
- Ballots shall be printed according to the prescribed template, including the 

shareholder's name, total shares owned and authorized, total voting rights, and 

bearing the company’s seal; 

- Each shareholder shall be given one ballot; 

- In case of errors on the ballot, the shareholder may request the vote counting 

committee to exchange it for a new one; 

- Shareholders must personally record the number of votes cast for each candidate. 

Invalid ballots include: 
- Ballots not following the company’s prescribed template or lacking the company’s 

seal; 

- Ballots that have erasures, corrections, additions, or incorrectly written names not 

included in the list of candidates approved by the General Meeting of Shareholders 

before voting; 

- Ballots with votes cast for more candidates than the number of members to be 

elected or votes exceeding the shareholder’s voting rights. 

 

Article 4: Voting Method 
- The election of members of the Board of Directors shall be conducted by secret 

ballot using the cumulative voting method; 

- Each shareholder has a total number of voting rights equal to the total number of 

voting shares owned and authorized multiplied by the number of Board members to 

be elected; 

- Shareholders may allocate all of their voting rights to one or several candidates. 
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Article 5: Principles of Election and Election of Board of Directors Members 

1) Principle of Voting (Guidance on Cumulative Voting): 

- Assuming the General Meeting selects 3 members of the Board of Directors from a 

total of 3 candidates. Shareholder Nguyen Van A holds 1,000 shares (including 

ownership and authorization), so the total voting rights of shareholder Nguyen Van A 

are: 1,000 x 3 = 3,000 voting rights. Shareholder Nguyen Van A may cast cumulative 

votes as follows: 

- Allocate all 3,000 voting rights to one candidate for the Board of Directors. 

- Distribute the 3,000 voting rights evenly among the 3 candidates (each candidate 

receives 1,000 voting rights from shareholder Nguyen Van A) or allocate different 

proportions to the candidates, provided the total voting rights allocated do not exceed 

3,000. 

2) Principle of Election: 
- A candidate must receive at least 65% of the total valid votes to be elected. 

- If the first round of voting does not achieve this result, a supplementary election will 

be held, continuing until the candidate(s) meet the required threshold. 

 

Article 6: Vote Counting Committee, Principles of Voting and Vote Counting 

1) Vote Counting Committee 
- The Vote Counting Committee is nominated by the Chairperson and approved by the 

General Meeting; 

- The Vote Counting Committee is responsible for: 

 Approving the Election Regulations; 

 Introducing and distributing the ballots; 

 Conducting the vote counting; 

 Announcing the election results before the General Meeting. 

 Members of the Vote Counting Committee must not be nominated or stand as 

candidates for the Board of Directors. 

2) Principles of Voting and Vote Counting 

- The Vote Counting Committee inspects the ballot boxes in the presence of 

shareholders; 

- Voting begins once the distribution of ballots is complete and ends when the last 

shareholder casts their vote into the ballot box; 

- Vote counting must be conducted immediately after voting ends; 

- The vote counting results must be recorded in writing and announced by the Head of 

the Vote Counting Committee before the General Meeting. 

 

Article 7: Preparation and Announcement of the Vote Counting Minutes 
- After vote counting, the Vote Counting Committee must prepare the vote counting 

minutes. The content of the minutes includes: total number of shareholders attending 

the meeting, total number of shareholders participating in the voting, number of valid 

votes, number of invalid votes, blank votes; the number and percentage of voting 

rights for each candidate for the Board of Directors; 

- The full text of the vote counting minutes must be announced before the General 

Meeting. 
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Article 8: Complaints Regarding Voting and Vote Counting 
- Any complaints about the voting and vote counting process will be resolved by the 

Chairperson of the meeting and recorded in the minutes of the General Meeting; 

 

This regulation takes effect immediately upon approval by the General Meeting. 

Respectfully submitted to the General Meeting for consideration and approval. 

 
 

 June 09th 2025 
  ON BEHALF OF THE BOD 

                                                                                                  CHAIRMAN 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                                                    MR. NGUYEN THANH NGHIA 

 



SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM 

Independence – Freedom - Happiness 

-------------- 

LETTER OF NOMINATION – SELF-NOMINATION  

FOR THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

TERM 2025-2029 
 

To: The Board of Director of Dai Thien Loc Corporation 

 

Pursuant to Announcement no. 01/2025/TB-DHDCD dated June 2025 of the Board of 

Director (the BOD) of Dai Thien Loc Corporation about nominating, self-nominating 

member of the BOD for term 2025-2029. 

I/ We are shareholder/group of shareholders of Dai Thien Loc Corporation 

owning……….%/total number of voting shares, including: 

No. Shareholder’s full 

name 

Register 

number 

Number of owned 

shares at DTL 

%/ total 

shares of DTL 

1.     

2.     

 Total    

In consideration of the Company Charter of Dai Thien Loc Corporation, I/we submit to 

self-nominate/nominate candidate for member of the BOD with term 2025-2029 of Dai 

Thien Loc Corporation as following: 

List of candidate who nominated,self-nominate to member of the BOD: 

No. Full name ID card/ Passport Member of the BOD 

1.    

2.    

 Total   

I/we hereby attach Candidacy/Nomination form, curriculum vitae, their photo of ID 

card/Passport of candicates and commit that the above candidates are qualified criteria 

and conditions for member of the BOD of Dai Thien Loc Corporation. I/we are fully 

responsible for the accuracy, honesty and legality of this nomination. 

Best regard! 

       ………………….,  

        SHAREHOLDER/GROUP OF SHAREHOLDERS 

                                                                Signature, full name, stamp (if any) 

  



 

SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM 

Independence – Freedom - Happiness 

 

             CANDIDATE PROFILE FOR BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEMBER 

DAI THIEN LOC CORPORATION 

 

 

 

1. Personal Information: 

- Full name:  

- Gender:  

- Date of birth:  

- Place of birth:  

- Nationality:               Ethnicity:  

- ID card/Passport number:                         Date of issue: 

- Permanent address: 

- Contact phone number: 

 

2. Professional Qualifications  

Period Institution/Place of 

Training 

Degree/Certificate 

   

   

   

   

   

 

3. Work Experience and Professional Background: 

Period Position Workplace 

   

   

   

   

   

4. Current Position:  

4. Positions Held in Other Organization:  

5. Interests Related to the Company: 

- Number of shares held in DTL: 

- Shareholding commitments: 

 
 

Hình 4x6 



- Related persons holding shares in DTL: 

No. Full name Relationship 
ID 

card/Passport 

Date 

of 

issue 

Place of 

issue 

Number of 

shares 

owning at 

DTL 

1.       

2.       

3.       

- Debts owed to the Company: 

- Related interests with the Company: 

- Conflicting rights/interests with the Company: 

 

I hereby certify that the above-declared information is complete and accurate. I commit to 

performing my duties honestly, loyally, diligently, and in the best interests of the 

Company if elected as a member of the Company’s Board of Directors. 

 

 

…………………., date:  ……………. 

 DECLARANT 

(Signature and full name) 
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DAI THIEN LOC CORPORATION 

Address: Block CN8, Road CN5, Song Than III IP, Phu Tan Ward, Thu 

Dau Mot City, Binh Duong Province, Vietnam 

Tell: 0274.3719999     Fax: 0274.3849111/222 

Email: sales@daithienloc.com.vn – dtl@daithienloc.com.vn 

  Website: www.daithienloc.com.vn 

 

No.: 01/TT-ĐHĐCĐ/2025                                      Binh Duong, June 09th 2025 

 

PROPOSAL 

Ref.: Certain Issues for Shareholders’ Approval at the 2025 Annual General 

Meeting of Shareholders 

To: The General Meeting of Shareholders of Dai Thien Loc Corporation 

 

- Pursuant to Law on Enterprises no.: 59/2020/QH14 approved by The 

National Assembly of the Socialist Republic of Vietnam on June 17th 2020; 

- Pursuant to the Law on Securities No. 54/2019/QH14 passed by the 

National Assembly on November 26, 2019; 

- Based on the 2024 financial statements audited by RSM Vietnam Audit & 

Consulting Co., Ltd; 

- Based on the unanimous opinions of the Company’s Board of Directors 

members. 

 

The Board of Directors respectfully submits to the 2025 Annual General 

Meeting of Shareholders for consideration, discussion, and sequential approval of the 

following matters: 

 

1) Approval of Production and Income Report in 2024 and Plan for 2025. 

A. Production and Income Report in 2024: 

-   Turnover:         1.966.791.543.526 dong  

With export 31.008 USD  

- Profit after Tax: 4.252.561.514 dong  

- Earning per Share:  70 dong  

B. Plan for 2025: 

- Turnover: 2.260.000.000.000 dong  

               With export 5.000.000 USD  

-     Profit after Tax: 18.000.000.000 dong  

-    Allocate the Bonus funds: 2% of Profit after Tax  

-    Allocate the Welfare funds: 1% of Profit after Tax  

-    Allocate the Development Investment 

Fund 

5% of Profit after Tax  

 

2) Approval of the Board of Director’s operation report in 2024 and Plan for 2025 

 

mailto:sales@daithienloc.com.vn
mailto:dtl@daithienloc.com.vn
http://www.daithienloc.com.vn/
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3) Approval of paying remuneration for the Board of Director, Audit Committee 

- In 2024, paid remuneration, salary and other benefits for the Board of Directors, 

Audit Committee: 

No. Full name Position 

 

Salary, rewards, 

Remuneration 

1 Mr. Nguyen Thanh Nghia 
Chairman of the Board of 

Directors 
13.911.800 

2 
Mrs. Nguyen Thi Bich 

Lien 

Vice Chairman of the Board 

of Directors-Member of the 

Audit Committee 

123.575.600 

3 Ms. Nguyen Thanh Dung 
Board Member – Deputy 

General Director 
376.980.800 

4 Mr. Nguyen Van Sau 

Chairman of the Audit 

Committee and Board 

Member (From 29/06/2023 

to 26/06/2024) 

11.000.000 

 

       -  Salary of the Board of Director, Audit Committee in 2025: 

 Total salary of the Board of Director and Audit Committee in 2025 is 0.5% 

of the profit after tax of 2025 

 If the profit exceeds target, excess bonus is 1% of the excess target.  

Authorize the Board of Director to decide on the distribution of specific remuneration 

excess bonus for each member of the Board of Directors and the Audit Committee. 

 

4) Approval of Operation of the Audit Committee in 2024 and Plan for 2025  

 

5) Approval of the Board of Directors independent members Report 

 

6) Approval of the Audit Report (attachment) 

 

7) Approval of authorizing the Board of Director to select a Audit company to 

audit Financial Statement 2025 

 Ernst & Young Viet Nam Limited; 

 RSM Vietnam Auditing & Consulting Limited; 

 A&C Auditing And Consulting Company Limited; 

 Deloitte Vietnam Audit Company Limited. 

 

8) Approval of extension of selling the factory at the address: No. 105/4A, 

DT743A Road, Chieu Lieu Quarter, Tan Dong Hiep Ward, Di An City, Binh 

Duong Province according to the Resolution of the Annual General Meeting of 

Shareholders dated June 26, 2024 
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The Annual General Meeting of Shareholders authorize the Board of Director to carry 

out related tasks in accordance with the legal regulations. 

 

Respectfully submitted to the General Meeting of Shareholders for consideration and 

approval. 

Best regard! 

                                                                             ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF 

                                                                                       DIRECTOR 

CHAIRMAN 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                                                  MR. NGUYEN THANH NGHIA 
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DAI THIEN LOC CORPORATION 
Address: Block CN8, Road CN5, Song Than III IP, Phu Tan Ward, Thu Dau Mot City, 
Binh Duong Province, Vietnam 
Tell: 0274.3719999     Fax: 0274.3849111/222 
Email: sales@daithienloc.com.vn – dtl@daithienloc.com.vn 
Website: www.daithienloc.com.vn 

 

         No.: 02/TT-ĐHĐCĐ/2025                                 Binh Duong, June 09th 2025 

PROPOSAL 

Ref.: Election of Board of Directors Members for the 2025 - 2029 Term 

To: The Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of Dai Thien Loc Joint Stock 

Company 

- Pursuant to the Law on Enterprises No. 59/2020/QH14 approved by the 

National Assembly of the Socialist Republic of Vietnam on June 17, 2020; 

- Pursuant to the Charter of Dai Thien Loc Joint Stock Company. 

The Board of Directors respectfully submits to the 2025 Annual General Meeting of 

Shareholders for consideration, discussion, and approval of the following content: 

1. Election of members of the Board of Directors for the 2025 – 2029 term as 

follows: 

- Number of Board members to be elected: 04 members. 

- Term: 5 years (2025 – 2029). 

- Number of candidates for the Board of Directors: 04 persons. 

- Eligibility criteria for candidates to the Board of Directors: According to Article 

155 of the Enterprise Law No. 59/2020/QH14 and Article 275 of Decree 

155/2020/ND-CP. 

2. Approval of the list of candidates for the Board of Directors for the 2025 – 

2029 term: 

- Mr. Nguyen Thanh Nghia 

- Ms. Nguyen Thi Bich Lien 

- Ms. Nguyen Thanh Dung 

- Ms. Tran Thi Thanh Truc 

Other matters related to the election of members of the Board of Directors for the 2025 

– 2029 term shall be applied in accordance with the election regulations at the 2025 

Annual General Meeting of Shareholders. 

Respectfully submitted for the consideration and approval of the General Meeting of 

Shareholders. 

Sincerely! 

 ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 CHAIRMAN 

 

 

 

 

                                                                                 MR. NGUYEN THANH NGHIA 

mailto:sales@daithienloc.com.vn
mailto:dtl@daithienloc.com.vn
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DAI THIEN LOC CORPORATION 
Address: Block CN8, Road CN5, Song Than III IP, Phu Tan Ward, Thu Dau 
Mot City, Binh Duong Province, Vietnam 
Tell: 0274.3719999     Fax: 0274.3849111/222 
Email: sales@daithienloc.com.vn – dtl@daithienloc.com.vn 

  Website: www.daithienloc.com.vn 

 
VOTING BALLOT 

Ref.: Approval of matters at the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders 
 
 
 
 
Shareholder Name: 
Total Number of Shares Owned: 
Total Number of Shares Authorized: 
Total Number of Voting Rights: 

 
 

1. Approval of Production and Income Report in 2024 
and Plan for 2025 

 Agree  Disagree  No comment 

2. Approval of the Board of Director’s operation 
report in 2024 and Plan for 2025 

 Agree  Disagree  No comment 

3. Approval of paying remuneration for the Board of 
Director, Audit Committee 

 Agree  Disagree  No comment 

4. Approval of Operation of the Audit Committee in 
2024 and Plan for 2025 

 Agree  Disagree  No comment 

5. Approval of the Board of Directors independent 
members Report 

 Agree  Disagree  No comment 

6. Approval of the Audit Report (attachment)   Agree  Disagree  No comment 

7. Approval of authorizing the Board of Director to 
select a Audit company to audit Financial Statement 
2025 

 Agree  Disagree  No comment 

8. Approval of extension of selling the factory at the 
address: No. 105/4A, DT743A Road, Chieu Lieu 
Quarter, Tan Dong Hiep Ward, Di An City, Binh 
Duong Province according to the Resolution of the 
Annual General Meeting of Shareholders dated 
June 26, 2024 

 Agree  Disagree  No comment 

 
* Note :  
Shareholders cast their votes by marking 
Agree ; Disagree hoặc No comment 
Ballots without any mark will be considered as 
Abstentions (No comment) 

 
June 30th 2025 
Shareholder 

(signature, full name) 
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Công ty Cổ phần ĐẠI THIÊN LỘC 
TSC: Lô CN8, Đường CN5, KCN Sóng Thần 3, P.Phú Tân, TP.Thủ Dầu Một, BD 
ĐT: 0274.3719999     Fax: 0274.3849111/222 
Email: sales@daithienloc.com.vn – dtl@daithienloc.com.vn 
Web: www.daithienloc.com.vn. 
 

         No.: 01/NQ-DHDCD/2025 Binh Duong, June 30th 2025 

 

RESOLUTION 

THE 2025 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS 

DAI THIEN LOC CORPORATION 

 

- Pursuant to Law on Enterprises no.: 59/2020/QH14 approved by The National Assembly of 

the Socialist Republic of Vietnam on June 17th 2020; 

- Pursuant to The Charter of Dai Thien Loc Corporation; 

- Pursuanant to The Meeting Minutes of the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders 

dated June 26th 2025. 
 

The 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of Dai Thien Loc Corporation 

(DTL) 
 

RESOLUTION 

Article 1: Approval of Production and Income Report in 2024 and Plan for 2025. 

A. Production and Income Report in 2024: 

-   Turnover:         1.966.791.543.526 dong  

With export 31.008 USD  

- Profit after Tax: 4.252.561.514 dong  

- Earning per Share:  70 dong  

B. Plan for 2025: 

- Turnover: 2.260.000.000.000 dong  

               With export 5.000.000 USD  

-     Profit after Tax: 18.000.000.000 dong  

-    Allocate the Bonus funds: 2% of Profit after Tax  

-    Allocate the Welfare funds: 1% of Profit after Tax  

-    Allocate the Development Investment Fund 5% of Profit after Tax  

 

Voting rate:  

 

Article 2: Approval of the Board of Director’s operation report in 2024 and Plan for 2025  

Voting rate:  

 

Article 3 : Approval of paying remuneration for the Board of Director, Audit Committee 

- In 2024, paid remuneration, salary and other benefits for the Board of Directors, Audit 

Committee: 

 

mailto:sales@daithienloc.com.vn
mailto:dtl@daithienloc.com.vn
http://www.daithienloc.com.vn/
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No. Full name Position  
Salary, rewards, 

Remuneration 

1 
Mr. Nguyen Thanh 

Nghia 

Chairman of the Board of 

Directors 
13.911.800 

2 
Mrs. Nguyen Thi 

Bich Lien 

Vice Chairman of the 

Board of Directors 
123.575.600 

3 
Ms. Nguyen Thanh 

Dung 

Board Member – Deputy 

General Director 
   376.980.800 

4 Mr. Nguyen Van Sau 

Chairman of the Audit 

Committee and Board 

Member (From 

29/06/2023 to 

26/06/2024) 

11.000.0000 

 

       -  Salary of the Board of Director, Audit Committee in 2025: 

 Total salary of the Board of Director and Audit Committee in 2025 is 0.5% of the 

profit after tax of 2025 

 If the profit exceeds target, excess bonus is 1% of the excess target.  

Authorize the Board of Director to decide on the distribution of specific remuneration excess 

bonus for each member of the Board of Directors and the Audit Committee. 

Voting rate:   

 

Article 4: Approval of Operation of the Audit Committee in 2024 and Plan for 2025 

Voting rate:  

 

Article 5 : Approval of the Board of Directors independent members Report 

Voting rate:  

 

Article 6 : Approval of the Audit Report (attachment) 

Voting rate :  

 

Article 7 : Approval of authorizing the Board of Director to select a Audit company to 

audit Financial Statement 2025 

 Ernst & Young Viet Nam Limited; 

 RSM Vietnam Auditing & Consulting Limited; 

 A&C Auditing And Consulting Company Limited; 

 Deloitte Vietnam Audit Company Limited. 

Voting rate: 

 

Article 8: Approval of extension of selling the factory at the address: No. 105/4A, DT743A 

Road, Chieu Lieu Quarter, Tan Dong Hiep Ward, Di An City, Binh Duong Province 

according to the Resolution of the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders dated June 

26, 2024 
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The Annual General Meeting of Shareholders authorize the Board of Director to carry out 

related tasks in accordance with the legal regulations. 

Voting rate:  

 

Article 9: Approval of the Elected Members of the Board of Directors 

 for term 2025-2029 

Voting rate: 

Article 10: Excution terms 

This resolution is approved by the 2025 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders and 

effective since June 30th 2025. The Board of Director, the Audit Committee, Internal Audit 

Department, Executive Board, Departments and Shareholders have responsibility to carry out 

this resolution. 

 Recipients: 
- the Ho Chi Minh Stock Exchange (Hose); 

- The State Securities Commission; 

- Save: VT. 

ON BEHALF OF GENERAL MEETING 

SHAREHOLDERS 

CHAIRMAN 

 

MR. NGUYEN THANH NGHIA 
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DAITHIEN LOC CORPORATION AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Address. Lot CN8, Street CN5, Song Than lll lndustrial Park, Phu Tan Ward, Thu Dau Mot City,
Binh Duonq Province, Vietnam

Management of Dai Thien Loc Corporation (hereinafter referred to as "the Company") hereby presents its i'
report and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (together with :...J1

the Company hereinafter referred to as "the Group") for the financial year ended 31 December 2024. -r

MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS, AUDIT COMMITTEE, THE INTERNAL AUDTT COMMITTEE 
,i{

AND MANAGEMENT

Members of the Board of Directors during the year and on the date of this report include:

Full Name Position Aopointed Resioned

)i
,.i

'-(

Mr Nguyen Thanh Nghia Chairperson
Ms Nguyen Thi Bich Lien Vice Chairperson

(Non-executive
Director)

Ms Nguyen Thanh Dung Member
Mr Nguyen Van Sau lndependent Director 29 June 2023 26 June 2024
Ms Tran Thi Thanh Truc lndependent Director 26 June 2024

Members of the Audit Committee during the year and on the date of this report include:

Full name Position Appointed Resioned

Full name

Ms Nguyen Thanh Dung

AUDITOR

MANAGEMENT'S REPORT

Position

Vice General Director

=0

)r
t)
I
\

Ms Tran Thi Thanh Truc Chairperson 26 June 2024
Ms Nguyen Thi Bich Lien Member
Mr Nguyen Van Sau Chairperson 26 July 2023 26 June 2024

Members of the lnternal Audit Committee during the year and on the date of this report include:

Full name Position

Ms Doan Thi Bich Thuy Head
Ms Nguyen Thi Thu Thao Member
Ms Nguyen Thi Hong Thu Member

Members of management during the year and on the date of this report include:

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December
2024 were audited by RSM Vietnam Auditing & Consulting Company Limited, a member firm of RSM
lnternational.

1r



DAITHIEN LOC CORPORATION AND ITS SUBS!DIARIES
Address: Lot CN8, Street CN5, Song Than lll lndustrial Park, Phu Tan Ward, Thu Dau Mot City,
Binh Duong Province, Vietnam

MANAGEMENT',S REPORT (CONTTNUED)

RESPONSIBILITY OF MANAGEMENT

The Group's management is responsible for preparing the consolidated financial statements of each period
which give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group and the consolidated results
of its operations and its consolidated cash flows. ln preparing these consolidated financial statements,
management is required to:

' Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently.

' Make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent.

. State whether applicable accounting principles have been followed, subject to any departures that need to
be disclosed and explained in the consolidated financial statements.

. Prepare the consolidated financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to
presume that the Group will continue in business; and

. Design and implement the internal control system effectively for a fair preparation and presentation of the
consolidated financial statements so as to mitigate error or fraud.

Management confirms that the Group has complied with the above requirements in preparing these
consolidated financial statements.

Management is responsible for ensuring that proper accounting records are kept, which disclose, with
reasonable accuracy at any time, the consolidated financial position of the Group and ensure that the
consolidated financial statements comply with Vietnamese Accounting Standards, Vietnamese Corporate
Accounting System, and prevailing accounting regulations in Vietnam. Management is also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection
of fraud and other irregularities.

STATEMENT BY MANAGEMENT

ln management's opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024 and the consolidated results of its
operations and its consolidated cash flows for the financial year then ended in accordance with the Vietnamese
Accounting Standards, Vietnamese Corporate Accounting System, and prevailing accounting regulations in

Vice General Director
(According fo fhe Resolution No. 08/2020/DTL-NQ HDQf
dated 04 November 2020 of the Board of Directors)

Binh Duong, 28 March 2025
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RSM Vietnam

3A Floor, L'Mak The Signature Building
147-147Bis Hai Ba Trung Street

Vo Thi Sau Ward, District 3

Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam

T +8428 3827 5026
contact_hcm@rsm.com.vn

www.rsm.global./vietnam
No. 50212025/KT-RSMHCM

To:

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Shareholders
The Board of Directors
Management
DAI THIEN LOC CORPORATION

Report on the consolidated financial statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Dai Thien Loc Corporation and its
subsidiaries prepared on 28 March 2025 as set out from page 05 to page 45, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated income statement, and
consolidated cash flow statement for the financial year then ended, and the notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

M a n ag e m ent's Respon s i b i I ity

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements
in accordance with Vietnamese Accounting Standards and Vietnamese Corporate Accounting System and
relevant legislation as to the preparation and presentation of consolidated financial statements and for such
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation and presentation of the
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibil ity

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Vietnamese Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. ln making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

THE POWER OF BEING UNDERSTOOD
ASSURANCE I TAX I CONSULTING

RSN.4 Vietnam is a member of the RSM network and trades as RSM. RSM is the trading name used by the members of the RS[/ network
Each member ofthe RSM network ls an lndependent accounting and consultlng firm whlch pcctices ln lts own rlght
the RSM network ls not ltself a separate leBal entlty ln anyjurlsdlctlon.
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INDEPENDENT AUDTTOR'S REPORT (CONTTNUED)

Opinion

ln our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated
financial position of Dai Thien Loc Corporation and its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024, and of the
consolidated results of its financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the financial year then
ended in accordance with Vietnamese Accounting Standards and Vietnamese Corporate Accounting System
issued under Circular 20012014/TT-BTC dated 22 December 2014, Circular 53120161TT-BTC dated 21 March
2016 and guidance on preparation and presentation of consolidated financial statements under Circular
202120141TT-BTC dated 22 December 2014 by Ministry of Finance and relevant legislation as to the
preparation and presentation of consolidated financial statements.

pp GENERAL DIRECTOR

I

I

a
Y
v
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Audit Director
Audit Practice Registration Certificate:
3527-2021-026-1
(Under the Power of Attorney No. 10/2024-25/UQ-RSM
dated 31 December 2024 by the General Directo)

RSM Vietnam Auditing & Consulting Gompany Limited

Ho Chi Minh City, 28 March 2025

Le Vo Thuy Linh
Auditor
Audit Practice Registration Certificate:
3525-2021-026-1

As dlsc/osed in Note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, the accompanying consolidated financial
statements are not intended to present the consolidated financial position, consolidated financial pertormance
and consolidated cash flows in accordance with accounting principles and practices generally accepted in
countries and jurisdictions other than Vietnam.
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DAITHIEN LOC CORPORATION AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Address: Lot CN8, Road CN5, Song Than lll lndustrial Park, Phu Tan Ward, Thu Dau Mot City,

Binh Duong Province, Vietnam

FormB0l-DN/HN

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANClAL POSITION

(See fhe next page)

1

As at 31 December2024
in VND

ASSETS Cod Note
As at

31 Dec.2024
As at

O1 Jan.2024

A. CURRENTASSETS

l. Cash and cash equivalents
1. Cash

ll. Current financial investments
1. Held to maturity investments

!ll. Current account receivables
1. Trade receivables
2. Advances to suppliers
3. Other current receivables
4. Provision for doubtful debts
5. Shortage of assets pending resolution

lV. lnventories
1. lnventories

V. Other current assets
1. Current prepayments
2. Value added tax deductible
3. Tax and other receivables from the state budget

B. NON-CURRENTASSETS

l. Non-current account receivables
1. Other non-current receivables

ll. Fixed assets
1. Tangible fixed assets

Cost
Accumulated depreciation

2. Finance lease assets
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

3. lntangible fixed assets
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

!ll. !nvestment property
1. Cost
2. Accumulated depreciation

lV. Non-current assets in progress
1. Construction in progress

V. Other non-current assets
1. Non-current prepayments

100

110
111

120
123

130
131

132
136
137
139

140
141

150
151
152
153

200

210
216

220
221

222
223
224
225
226
227
228
229

230
231
232

240
242

260
261

4.2
4.3
4.4
4.5

4.6

4.1

4.4

4.15

4.8

4.10

4.9

4.12

4.7

4.11

1,516,100,652,199

4,513,620,649
4,513,620,649

1,000,000
1,000,000

362,721,958,479
351,182,792,559
22,486,896,335
13,623,288,741

(24,609,304,694)
38,285,538

1,124,486,627,087
1 ,124,486,627 ,087

24,377,445,984
568,253,063

23,809,192,921-

603,735,324,087

2,150,201,005
2,150,201,005

305,718,365,709
289,341,389,027
607,244,785,074

(317,903,396,047)
16,376,976,682
30,730,344,077

(14,353,367,395)

574,800,000
(574,800,000)

9,583,798,466
19,927,510,391

(10,343,711,925)

248,930,615,159
248,930,615,159

37,352,343,748
37,352,343,748

1,546,211,062,065

26,264,695,648
26,264,695,648

1,000,000
1,000,000

393,996,431,234
340,718,012,917
57,650,578,651
16,669,330,480

(21,113,796,352)
72,305,538

'1,122,900,759,649
1,122,900,7 59,649

3,048,175,534
1,028,512,742
1,989,518,505

30,144,287

526,593,374,702

2,152,500,005
2,152,500,005

304,173,'.181,579
275,574,608,352
709,892,751,178

(434,318,142,826)
22,325,912,192
30,730,344,077
(8,404,431,885)
6,272,661,035

11,815,527,730
(5,542,866,695)

180,994,346,063
180,994,346,063

39,273,347,055
39,273,347,055

TOTAL ASSETS (270 -- 100 + 200) 270 2,119,835,976,286 2,072,804,436,767

The accompanying notes are an integral paft of the consolidated financialsfafemenfs 5



DAITHIEN LOC CORPORATION AND lTS SUBSIDIARIES

Address: Lot CN8, Road CN5, Song Than lll lndustrial Park, Phu Tan Ward, Thu Dau Mot City,

(

Nguyen Thanh Dung
Vice General Director
(According to the Resolution No. 08/2020/DTL-A/Q HDQI
dated 04 November 2020)

Binh Duong, 28 March 2025

Le Ngoc Khang
Preparer cum Chief Accountant

Binh Duonq Province, Vietnam

FormB0l-D\_{t}

coNSoLlDArED STATEMENT OF FTNANCTAL pOSrflON (CONTTNUED) 9ll
As at 31 December 2024 '/x+V

Expressed inl7t'lD

RESOURCES Code Notes 31 Dec.2024
alAs '--As al

01 Jan.2024

C. LIABILITIES

L Current liabilities
1. Trade payables
2. Advances from customers
3. Taxes and amounts payable to the state budget
4. Payables to employees
5. Accrued expenses
6. Other current payables
7. Current loans and obligations under finance

leases
8. Bonus and welfare fund

Il. Non-current liabilities
'1. Other non-current payables
2. Non-current loans and obligations under finance

leases

3. Deferred income tax liabilities

D. OWNERS'EQUITY

l. Equity
1. Owners' contributed capital

Ordinary shares carrying voting rights
2. Share premium
3. Treasury shares
4. lnvestment and development fund
5. Other reserves
6. Retained earnings

Begrnning accumulated retained earnings
Retained earnings of the current year

300

310
311
312
313
314
315
319
320

322

330
337
338

341

400

410
411

411a
412
415
418
420
421

421a
421b

4.13
4.14
4.15

4.16
4.17
4.18

184

194

1 ,360,361,205,892

1,298,786,898,608
279,603,052,858

57,467,709,350
6,543,721,009
1,509,339,760

18,386,982,490
14,037,251,703

911,439,331,454

9,799,509,984

61,574,307,284
2,723,413,500
4,146,816,232

54,704,077,552

759,474,770,394

759,474,770,394
614,356,040,000
614,356,040,000
166,825,342,471
(14,481,143,515)
49,202,852,835
2,222,917,847

(58,651 ,239,244)
(62,903, Boo,758)

4,252,561.514

1 ,247 ,272,7 31 ,310
155,323,522,422

59,813,891,214
685,630,789

1,254,746,4\1
15,947,482,05N
29,713,757,e19'

974,618,242,561:
I

9,915,457,S(s

70,22g,644,4{6
2,558,413,500
9,675,904,528

1,317,502,375,800

57,995,326,462

755,302,060,967

755,302,060,967
614,356,040,000
614,356,040,000
166,825,342,471
(14,481, 1 43,51 5)

49,202,852,835
2,302,769,934

(62,903,800,758)
93,231 ,632,463

(156,135,433,221)

TOEAE€,ESOURCES (440 -- 300 + 400) 440 2,1 19,835,976,286 2.072,804.436,767

fi
*\r
\z) W,

ft'-'-ffi
c6 pnir,r

tlT\ty/fiA

.2,;)fiff$l

Prepared by

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements



DAITHIEN LOG CORPORATION AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Address: Lot CNB, Road CN5, Song Than lll lndustrial Park, Phu Tan Ward, Thu Dau Mot City,
Binh Duonq Province, Vietnam

FormB02-DN/HN

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

ff
R

Nguyen Thanh Dung
Vice General Director
(According to the Resolution No. 08/2020/DTL-llQ HDQf
dated 04 November 2020)

Binh Duong, 28 March 2025

Le Ngoc Khang
Preparer cum Chief Accountant

in VND

!TEMS Code Notes Year 2024 Year 2023

1. Revenue

2. Deductions

3 Net revenue

4. Cost of sales

5. Gross profit

6. Finance income

7. Finance expense

Of which, interest expense

B. Selling expense

9. General and administrative expense

1 0. Operating profiU(loss)

11. Other income

12. Other expense

13. Net other income/(loss)

14. Accounting profiU(loss) before taxation

15. Deferred corporate income tax expense

'16. Net profiU(loss) after taxation

17. Owners of the parent company

18. Basic earnings per share

19. Diluted earnings per share

-z#1:\

01

02

10

11

20

21

22

23

25

26

30

31

32

40

50

52

60

61

70

71

5.1

5.2

5.3

5.4

5.5

5.6

4.19.4

4.19.5

,966,999,544,521

208,000,995

,966,791 ,543,526

,972,027,999,068

(5,236,455,542)

487,082,524

78,955,381,460

73,585,644,369

3,419,125,098

24,764,522,487

(1 1 1,888,402,063)

137,693,572,016

24,843,857,349

112,849,714,667

961,312,604

(3,291,248,910)

4,252,561,514

4,252,561,514

70

70

1,972,528,403,687

934,058,037

1,971,594,345,650

2,007 ,329,257 ,797

(35,734,912,147)

2,282,734,900

101,654,723,341

99,171,639,897

5,893,945,604

19,589,041,161

(160,589,887,353)

62,057,594,049

31,924,111,261

30,133,482,788

(130,456,404,565)

25,679,028,656

(156,135,433,221)

(156,135,433,221)

(2,575)

(2,575)

v{.9/ <.>
lv\ Prepared by

cd pnArv
{
*

W

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements
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DAITHIEN LOC CORPORATION AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Address: Lot CN8, Road CNS, Song Than lll lndustrial Park, Phu Tan Ward, Thu Dau Mot City,
Binh Duong Province, Vietnam

FormB03-DN/HN

,l

I

',f

.)

=\'.3

c(
cd,n

,>.=

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
(lndirect method)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024

(See the next page)

in VND

ITEMS Code Notes Year 2024 Year 2023

I. CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

1. Net profit /(loss) before taxation

2. Adjustment for:
Depreciation and amortisation
Provisions
U n realised foreign exchange gains/losses from
revaluation of foreign currency monetary items
Gains/losses from investment
lnterest expense

3. Operating profit /(loss) before adjustments
to working capital
lncrease or decrease in accounts receivable
lncrease or decrease in inventories
lncrease or decrease in accounts payable
(excluding interest expense and CIT payable)
lncrease or decrease prepaid expenses
lnterest paid

Other cash outflows from operating activities

Net cash flow from operating activities

II. CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
1. Acquisition and construction of fixed assets and

other longterm assets
2. Proceeds from disposals of fixed assets and

other longterm assets
3. Repayments from borrowers and proceeds

from sales of debts instruments of other entities
4. lnterest and dividends received

Net cash flow from investinq activities

01

04
05
06

08
09
10

11

12

14

17

20

02
03

21

22

24
27

30

5.4

961 ,312,604

61,316,868,735
3,495,508,342

3,249,393,043
(137 ,788,286,381)

73,585,644,369

4,820,440,712
88,889,202,402
(1,585,867,438)

8,305,448,838
2,381,262,986

(69,989,755,895)
(195,800,000)

32,624,93',1,605

(173,100,520,561)

187,384,851,191

5,060,34;

14,289,390,979

(130,456,404,565)

46,708,728,260
(879,143,700)

1,965,002,408
(72,046,115,323)
99,171,639,897

(55,536,293,023)
193,577,411,259
117,295,002,007

81,418,897 ,739
1,916,340,019

(99,171,639,897)
(525,000,000)

238,974,718,104

(488,259,545)

700,000,000

26,700,000,000
1,615,892,573

28,527,633,028

The accompanying notes are integral paft of the consolidated financial statements



DAITHIEN LOC CORPORATION AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Address: Lot CN8, Road CN5, Song Than lll lndustrial Park, Phu Tan Ward, Thu Dau Mot City,
Binh Duong Province, Vietnam

coNSoLTDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT (CONTTNUED)
(lndirect method)

For the financial year ended 3'l December 2024

FormB03-DN/HN

Ex ssed in VND

:
0(

,Arl

P1

td

.T-T

Vice General Director
(According to the Resolution No. 08/2020/DTL-NQ HDQf
dated 04 November 2020)

Binh Duong, 2B March 2025

Le Ngoc Khang
Preparer cum Chief Accountant

ITEMS Code Notes Year 2024 Year 2023

III. CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
1. Proceeds from borrowings
2. Repayment of borrowings
3. Finance lease principal paid

Net cash flow from financing activities
NET INCREASE(DECREASE) !N CASH
(50 = 20+30+40)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

lmpact of exchange rate fluctuation

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF
YEAR
(70 = 50+60+51)

33
34
35

40

50
60

61

70

6.1

6.2

4.1

1,863,701 ,200,311
(1 ,926,880,1 11,419)

(5,529,088,296)

(68,707,999,404)

(21,793,676,8201
26,264,695,648

42,601,821

4,513,620,649

1 ,988,476,889,220
(2,228,306,401,412)

(5,529,088,2e6)

(245,358,600,488)

22,143,750,644
4,107,831,327

13,113,677

26,264,695,648

69{N
$/oved oV \4

il
cONG w \i'
c6 puAr,r. l*

T-1

Prepared by

The accompanying notes are integral part of the consolidated financialsfaternenfs

Nguyen Dung

r
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DAITHIEN LOC CORPORATION AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Address. Lot CN8, Road CN5, Song Than lll lndustrial Park, Phu Tan Ward, Thu Dau Mot City,
Binh Duong Province, Vietnam

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

1.'1. Structure of ownership

FormB09-DN/HN

Dai Thien Loc Corporation (hereinafter referred to as "the Company" or "the parent company") has ,)

been incorporated in accordance with the Business Registration Certificate No. 3700381282 dated 12 'rr

April 2007 granted by Binh Duong Province's Department of Planning and lnvestment and other
amended certificates thereafter with the latest one dated 08 January 2025 to change the legal 'l
document of the legal representative.

The Company's shares are listed on the Ho Chi Minh City Stock Exchange ("SGDCKHCM") with ..',1

Securities Code as DTL under the Listing License issued by the Ho Chi Minh City Stock Exchange on
28 May 2010.

The charter capital, as stipulated in the Business Registration Certificate, is VND 614,356,040,000.

The Company's registered head office is at Lot CN8, Road CN5, Song Than lll lndustrial Park, Phu
Tan Ward, Thu Dau Mot City, Binh Duong Province, Vietnam.

The Company has 02 subsidiaries, as represented in Note 1.5 below (together with the Company,
hereinafter referred to as "the Group").

The Company's subordinate units as at 31 December 2024 include:

Name Address Note

Dai Thien Loc Corporation - 79A Tran Hung Dao Street, Binh Thanh Stopping operations until
Long My Branch B Area, Binh Thanh Ward, Long My 31 December 2024

Town, Hau Giang Province, Vietnam.

Dai Thien Loc Corporation - 295 Tran Hung Dao Street, Ward 5, Vi ln the progress of
Vi Thanh Branch Thanh City, Hau Giang Province, completing termination

Vietnam. procedures

DaiThien Loc Corporation - 19 Cach Mang Thang Tam Street, Long Operating
Ba Ria Branch Huong Ward, Ba Ria City, Ba Ria Vung

Tau Province, Vietnam.

Dai Thien Loc Corporation - Thong Giang Nam 2, Hoa Phuoc Operating
Da Nang Branch Commune, Hoa Vang District, Da Nang

City, Vietnam.

The number of employees as at 31 December 2024 was 79 (31 December 2023'.87).

1.2. Business field

Manufacturing and trading.

1.3. Operating industryand principalactivities

Under the Enterprise Registration Certificate, the Group is principally engaged in:

. Production of cold rolled steelsheets, galvanized steelsheets, aluminium-zinc alloy plating, colour
plating, steel pipes, and steel purlin.

. Trading in hot rolled steel, sheet steel, shaped steel, and construction steel.

. . Generation of solar power, transmission, and distribution of electricity.

a
r7y
'1ry

tilc
,@
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DAITHIEN LOC CORPORATION AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Address: Lot CN8, Road CN5, Song Than lll lndustrial Park, Phu Tan Ward, Thu Dau Mot City,
Binh Duono Province, Vietnam

NOTES TO THE CONSOLTDATED FTNANCTAL STATEMENTS (CONTTNUED)

Normaloperating cycle

The Group's normal operating cycle is carried out for a period of 12 months.

1.4.

1.5.

1.6.

Name

Dai Thien
Loc Steel
One
Member
Co., Ltd

Operating
industry

Manufacturing of
other metal
products that not
elsewhere
classified

Address

Square 13D, Lot CN8,
Road CN5, Song Than lll
lndustrial Park, Phu Tan
Ward, Thu Dau Mot City,
Binh Duong Province,
Vietnam

Square 2, Lot A, Road
22, Song Than 2
lndustrial Park, Di An
Town, Binh Duong
Province, Vietnam

Voting Percentage of
rights ownership

100o/o 100Yo

100o/o 100o/o

100%

Dai Thien Manufacturing of
Loc Steel iron, steel and
Sheet One cast iron
Member
Co., Ltd

BASIS OF PREPARATION

100o/o

D2.

2.1.

2.2.

2.3.

2.4.

Accounting standards, accounting system

The accompanying consolidated financial statements, expressed in Vietnamese Dong ("VND"), are
prepared in accordance with Vietnamese Accounting Standards, Vietnamese Corporate Accounting
System, and prevailing accounting regulations in Vietnam.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are not intended to present the consolidated
financial position, consolidated results of operations and consolidated cash flows in accordance with
accounting principles and practices generally accepted in countries and jurisdictions other than
Vietnam.

Forms of accounting records

The form of accounting records applied in the Group is the General Journal.

Financialyear

The Group's financialyear is from 01 January to 31 December.

Reporting and functional currency

The Group maintains its accounting records in VND.

11

The Group's structure ::\.
ln 2[24,the Group was organised into a direct ownership structure which comprised the OrrSxA
company and 02 direct subsidiaries. During the year, there was no change in the Group's structurg.,r,JF

Consolidated direct subsidiarie " 
,l/.i)
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DAITHIEN LOC CORPORATION AND ITS SUBS!DIARIES
Address: Lot CN8, Road CN5, Song Than lll lndustrial Park,
Binh Duong Province, Vietnam

Phu Tan Ward, Thu Dau Mot City,

NOTES TO THE CONSOLTDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTTNUED)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements are the financial statements of a group in which the assets,
liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows of the parent and subsidiaries are presented as
those of a single economic entity regardless of the legal structure of the entities. The financial
statements of the subsidiaries have been prepared for the same financial year using uniform
accounting policies to those used by the parent company. Adjustments were made for any different
accounting policies to ensure consistency between the subsidiaries and the parent company.

A subsidiary is fully consolidated from the acquisition date on which the Group obtains control over the
subsidiary until the date on which the parent ceases to controlthe subsidiary, unless control is intended
to be temporary because the subsidiary is acquired and held exclusively with the intention of selling or
disposing of it within twelve months.

lntra-group transactions elimination

All intra-group transactions, balances, income, and expenses - including unrealised intra-group profits
or losses - are eliminated in full on consolidation. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions that are deducted in arriving at the carrying amount of assets are also eliminated unless
the cost cannot be recovered.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLIC!ES

Foreign currencies

. The exchange rates announced by Vietnam Joint Stock Commercial Bank for lndustry and Trade
are applied in accounting.. The exchange rate applicable to asset recognition and re-evaluation is the foreign currency-buying
rate.

. The exchange rate applicable to liability recognition and re-evaluation is the foreign currency-
selling rate.

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded, on initial recognition, in the reporting currency, by
applying to the foreign currency amount the spot exchange rate between the reporting currency and
the foreign currency at the date of the transaction. The exchange ditferences arising on the settlement
of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in the year in which they arise. At the end of the
reporting year, monetary items excluding advances to suppliers, prepaid expenses, and unearned
revenues, which are denominated in foreign currency, are reported using the closing rate and resultant
exchange differences resulting from the reporting after offset are recognised in profit or loss in the year
in which they arise.

Use of estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that impact the carrying value of certain assets and liabilities, contingent assets and
liabilities reported in the notes at 31 December 2024 as well as revenues and expenses in the
consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2024. Although these
estimates are based on management's best knowledge of all relevant information available at the date
when the consolidated financial statements are prepared, this does not prevent actual figures differing
from estimates.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, cash at bank.

Cash equivalents are defined the same as those under Accounting Standard 24 "Statement of cash
flows".

,1
.1

2.5.

i
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3.3.
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DAITHIEN LOC CORPORATION AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Address: Lot CN8, Road CNS, Song Than lll lndustrial Park, Phu Tan Ward, Thu Dau Mot City,
Binh Duonq Province, Vietnam

:(

NOTES TO THE CONSOLTDATED FTNANCTAL STATEMENTS (CONTTNUED) .1.

3.4. Financial investments ;{

Held-to-maturity investments .I

Held-to-maturity investments comprise term deposits, preference bonds, shares - which include an
obligation for the issuer to repurchase them at a point in time in the future - held-to-maturity loans to
earn periodical profits, and other held-to-maturity investments.

lf there is any certain evidence that part or all the investments are irrecoverable, impairment losses
are recognised as a finance expense in the current year.

Amounts loaned out are measured at their cost.

3.5. Account receivables

Recognition method

Account receivables are stated at the carrying amounts of trade receivables and other receivables less
provisions for doubtful debts. f;
Provision for doubtfut debts 

;
As of the date of the consolidated financial statements, provisions for doubtful debts are recognised 5 f

for past-due accounts receivable and for accounts receivable where circumstances indicate that they 
Ttmight be uncollectible or for uncollectible debts due to liquidation, bankruptcy, or similar difficulties.

The difference between the required balance and the existing balance of provision for doubtful debts 
*;

is recorded as a general and administrative expense in the consolidated income statement.

3.6. lnventories

lnventory measurement

lnventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

The costs of inventories shall comprise all costs of purchase, costs of conversion, and other costs
incurred in bringing inventories to their present location and condition. Cost in the case of finished
goods and work in progress includes raw materials, direct labour, and attributable manufacturing
overheads.

The costs of purchase comprise the purchase price, non-reimbursable taxes and duties, and transport,
handling, and other costs directly attributable to the purchase. Trade discounts and sales rebates on
substandard and obsolete goods purchased are deducted from the costs of purchase.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

(See the next page)

,
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DAITH!EN LOC CORPORATION AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Address: Lot CN8, Road CNS, Song Than lll lndustrial Park, Phu Tan Ward, Thu Dau Mot City,
Binh Duong Province, Vietnam

NOTES TO THE CONSOLTDATED FTNANCTAL STATEMENTS (CONTTNUED)

Method of accounting for inventories

lnventories are measured using the weighted average and are recorded under the perpetual inventory
method:

3.7.

Provision for decline in value of inventories

As of the date of the consolidated financial statements, provisions are recognised for obsolete, slow-
moving, defective inventory and for inventory stated at a cost higher than net realisable value.

The difference between the required balance and the existing balance of the provision for a decline in
the value of inventories is included in the cost of sales in the consolidated income statement.

lnventories are written down to net realizable value on an item-by-item basis. For services being
rendered, provision is made in respect of each service for which a separate selling price will be
charged.

Materials and other supplies held for use in the production of inventories are not written down below
cost if the finished products in which they will be incorporated are expected to be sold at or above cost.

Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation.

Tangible fixed asset recognition

Tangible fixed assets are initially recognised at their cost. The cost of purchased tangible fixed assets
comprises the purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the assets to their present
location and working condition for their intended use. Accessories added to fixed assets when
purchased are recognised separately at their fair value and deducted from the historical cost of the
respective tangible fixed assets.

Depreciation and amortisation

The costs of fixed assets are depreciated on a straight-line method over their estimated useful lives.

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Materials, tools, and supplies

Finished goods and work in progress

. Buildings,structures

. Machinery and equipment

. Motor vehicles

. Office equipment

- The costs of purchase under the weighted average
method.

- The cost of materials and direct labour costs plus
attributable manufacturing overheads are based on
the normal level of activity under the weighted
average method.

08 - 20 years
04 - l2years
07 - 10 years

05 years

:tt2t

GT
.HA

iEil
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(See the next page)
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3.8.

DAITHIEN LOC CORPORATION AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Address: Lot CN8, Road CN5, Song Than lll lndustrial Park, Phu Tan Ward, Thu Dau Mot City,
Binh Duonq Province, Vietnam

3.9.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLTDATED FTNANCtAL STATEMENTS (CONTTNUED)

lntangible fixed assets

lntangible fixed assets are measured at costless accumulated amortisation.

I ntan g i bl e f ixed asset rec og n itio n

lntangible fixed assets are initially recognised at their cost. The cost of an intangible fixed asset
comprises the total expense incurred by the Group to acquire an asset at the time the asset is put into
operation for its intended use.

Accounting principles for intangible fixed assefs

Land use rights

Land use rights are stated at their costs less accumulated amortisation. The land use right is amortised
using the straight-line method over the period of the right to use the land from 39 to 48 years.

lndefinite land use rights are not amortised.

Computer software

Computer software is not an indispensable component of hardware and is recognised as an intangible
asset and depreciated over its useful life for 6 years.

Leases

Leases classification

Leases are classified as finance leases when the terms of the lease transfer substantially allthe risks
and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Financialleases

Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial
position at amounts equal to the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, the present value of the
minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease.

Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of the
outstanding liability. The finance charge is allocated to each period during the lease term at a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

The lease income under a finance lease is apportioned between the reduction of the principal and the
finance charge from investments and services of the lessor. The finance income is recognised based
on a constant periodic rate of return on the net investment in the finance lease.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis
as owned assets or, if shorter, machinery, equipment are72 months.

Operating leases

Lease payments under an operating lease are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

n
.0cfI

(See the next page)
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DA!THIEN LOC CORPORATION AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Address: Lot CN8, Road CN5, Song Than lll lndustrial Park, Phu Tan Ward, Thu Dau Mot City,
Binh Duonq Province, Vietnam

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCTAL STATEMENTS (CONTTNUED)

3.10. Leases

Assets subject to operating leases are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
according to the Group's asset classification pattern.

lnitial direct costs to generate income from operating leases are recognised as expenses in the year
as incurred or amortised over the lease term. Lease income from operating leases is recognised in the
consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term regardless of payment
methods.

Depreciation of assets subject to operating leases is consistent with the depreciation policy of the
lessor for similar assets.

3.11. lnvestmentproperty

lnvestment properties are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation. lnvestment properties held
for capital appreciation are not depreciated but subject to impairment review.

I nvestm e nt p ro pe rty reco g n iti on

An investment property is measured initially at its cost. The cost of an investment propefi is the
amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of other considerations given to acquire an
asset at the time of its acquisition or construction. The costs include initial transaction charges.

I nvestm e nt p ro pe rty d e p rec i ati o n

The cost of an investment property is depreciated on a straight-line method. lnvestment properties
held for capital appreciation are not depreciated, but an impairment test is required.

The estimated useful lives of investment properties are as follows:

. Buildings,structures

. Land use rights
10 - 20 years
39 - 42 years

The transfer to, or from, investment property shall be made when, and only when, there is a change
in use, evidenced by:

. End of owner-occupation and being subject to an operating lease to another pafi, for a transfer
from owner-occupied property to investment property.

Such transfers from or to investment property do not change the carrying amount of transferred assets
and the original cost of the property when measuring the value of assets or preparing the financial
statements.

3.12. Gonstruction in progress

Properties in the course of construction for production, rental, or administrative purposes, or for
purposes not yet determined, are carried at cost. Cost includes professional fees, and for qualifying
assets, borrowing costs dealt with in accordance with the Group's accounting policy. Depreciation of
these assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for
their intended use.

(See the next page)
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DAITHIEN LOC CORPORATION AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Address. Lot CN8, Road CNS, Song Than lll lndustrial Park, Phu Tan Ward, Thu Dau Mot City,
Binh Duong Province, Vietnam

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FtNANC|AL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3.13. Prepayments

PrepaymentSareclassifiedascurrentandnon-currentontheconsolidatedbalancesheet.<
Prepayments mainly comprise costs of tools and supplies and land rentals, etc., which are amortised \
over the period for which they are paid or the period in which economic benefits are generated in I
relation to these expenses. '\h

The following expenses are recognised as non-current prepayments and amortised to the consolidated .''l
income statement: '.!v

\
. Prepaid land, infrastructure and fixed asset rentals are amortised over the period of lease for 43

years.
. Tools and supplies are amortised over 01 to 36 months.

Prepaid land comprise unfinished allocated balance of the land rental paid under the land lease
contract. The above-prepaid land rentals are recognised as long-term prepayment and allocated to fri
the remaining time of the lease contract in accordance with Circular No.45120'13/TT-BTC issued by

ffiXffily""Jr;ffi::3ited 
25 April 2013, which provides guidance on the manasement, use and 

)Or
C6

3.14. Liabilities \lTl

Liabilities are classified into trade payables and other payables based on the following rules: Trade i)-
payables represent those arising from purchase and sale related transactions of goods, services or " l

assets and the seller is independent of the buyer; the remaining payables are classified as other
payables.

Liabilities are also classified according to the maturity date, the remaining term from the date of the
consolidated financial statements, original currency, and each creditor.

Liabilities are recognised at no less than the payment obligation.

3.15. Borrowing costs

All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the consolidated income statement when
incurred.

3.16. Accrued expenses

Accrued expenses represent expenses that will be paid in the future for goods or services received
but not yet paid due to lack of invoices or accounting documents. These expenses are recognised as
operating expenses of the reporting year.

(See the next page)
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DAITHIEN LOC CORPORATION AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Address: Lot CN8, Road CN5, Song Than lll lndustrial Park, Phu Tan Ward, Thu Dau Mot City,
Binh Duong Province, Vietnam

NOTES TO THE CONSOLTDATED FTNANCTAL STATEMENTS (CONTTNUED)

3.17. Owners' equity
,-a

The owners' contributed equity ,I

The owners' contributed equity is recognised when contributed. {

share premiums ':l
,td

Share premiums are recognised as the difference between the issue price and the par value of shares
and the difference between the re-purchase price and the re-issue price of treasury shares. :1

Treasury shares

Treasury shares are recognised at purchased cost and presented in the consolidated statement of
financial position as a deduction from equity.

Dividends 
;ri

Dividends are recognised as a liability at the date of declaring dividends.

Retained earnings G'
r)H,

Net profit after income tax can be distributed to shareholders after the distribution is approved the
General Annual Meeting of Shareholders and reserves are created in accordance with the Charter and
legal regulations in Vietnam.

3.18. Revenue and other income

Revenue from selling goods

Revenue from selling goods is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.
ln most cases, revenue is recognised when transferring the risks and rewards of ownership to the
buyer.

Revenue involving the rendering of services

Revenue of a transaction involving the rendering of services is recognised when the outcome of this
transaction can be estimated reliably. When a transaction involving the rendering of services is
attributable to several periods, each period's revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of
completion at the end of the reporting period.

lnterest income

lnterest income is recognised on an accrual basis by reference to the principal outstanding and at the
interest rate applicable.

Disposal and sale of fixed assefs

lncome from disposal and sale of fixed assets is the excess of the proceeds from the disposal and
sale of the fixed assets over the carrying amount of the fixed assets and disposal expenses.

ItEl

'6t;
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DAITHIEN LOC CORPORATION AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Address: Lot CN8, Road CN5, Song Than lll lndustrial Park, Phu Tan Ward, Thu Dau Mot City,
Binh Duong Province, Vietnam

NOTES TO THE CONSOLTDATED FINANCTAL STATEMENTS (CONTTNUED)

3.19. Deductions

Deductions include trade discounts, allowances, and sale returns.

Deductions arising in the reporting year from consumption of products, goods and services are
recognised as decreases in revenue in that year; Deductions arising after the end of the reporting year
but prior to issuing the consolidated financial statements for the reporting year are recognised as
decreases in revenue of the reporting year; Deductions arising after the end of the reporting year and
after issuing the consolidated financial statements for the reporting year are recognised as decreases
in revenue of the next year.

3.20. Gost of sales

Cost of sales and services provided represents total costs of finished products, goods, services, which
are sold in the year in accordance with the matching principle. Abnormal amounts of production costs
of inventories are recognised immediately in cost of sales.

3.21. Finance expense

Finance expenses represent all expenses incurred in the reporting year which mainly include
borrowing costs and losses from exchange rates.

3.22. Selling expense and generaland administrative expense

Selling expenses represent expenses incurred during the process of selling products, goods and
rendering services, which include expenses relating to advertisement, storage, packaging, and
shipping etc.

General and administrative expenses represent common expenses, which include payroll costs for
office employees (salaries, wages, allowances, etc.); social insurance, health insurance, trade union
fees and unemployment insurance; stationery expenses, material expenses, depreciation expenses
of fixed assets used for administration activities; land rental, license tax; provision for doubtful debts;
utility services (electricity expenses, water expenses, phone, fax, warranty expenses, etc.); sundry
expenses (entertainment, customer conference, etc.).

3.23. Taxation

Corporate income tax

Current corporate income tax expense

Current corporate income tax expense is determined on the basis of taxable income and the rate of
corporate income tax (ClT) of the currentyear at20o/o.

Deferred corporate income tax expense

Deferred corporate income tax expense is determined on the basis of the deductible temporary
differences, taxable temporary differences and the estimated CIT rate that will be applied for the years
that assets and liabilities will be recovered. The tax rates used will be the tax rates (and tax laws) that
are in effect at the financial year end.

Deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences, unless:

. The deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
which at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax
loss).

D
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DA!THIEN LOC CORPORATION AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Address: Lot CN8, Road CNS, Song Than lll lndustrial Park, Phu Tan Ward, Thu Dau Mot City,
Binh Duong Province, Vietnam

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED F|NANC|AL STATEMENTS (CONTTNUED)

. All taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, branches and
associates, and interests in joint ventures when the parent, investor or venturer is able to control '+
the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary n
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. :r.i

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is ''il
probable that taxable profit wiii be available against which tire de-ductible temporary difference can be " 

tl

utilised, unless: .t

. The deferred tax asset arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction i:
which at the time of transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss). 'u

. The deferred tax assets for all deductible temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, branches and associates, and interests in joint ventures are only recognised when it
is probable that the temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable future; and taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary difference can be utilised.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset shall be reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow the
benefit of part or all of that deferred tax asset to be utilised. Any such reduction shall be reverted to
the extent it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available.

,\
Current and deferred tax are recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or loss for the yl
year except to the extent that the tax arises from a transaction or event which is recognised, in the \
same or a different year, directly in equity.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are only offset if, and only if, the Group has a legally %
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets Iand the deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the
Group intends to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Value added tax

The goods sold and services rendered by the Group are subject to value added tax at the following
rate:

. Steel and galvanised steel products for export: 0%. Electricity: 10o/o. Steel and galvanised steel products for domestic sales: 10%. Rental service: 10%. Other services: 10%.

(See the next page)
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DAITHIEN LOC CORPORATION AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Address: Lot CNB, Road CN5, Song Than lll lndustrial Park, Phu Tan Ward, Thu Dau Mot City,
Binh Duonq Province, Vietnam

NOTES TO THE CONSOLTDATED FTNANCTAL STATEMENTS (CONTTNUED)

For the year ZO24alone, in accordance with Decre e 94I2O231ND-CP dated 28 Decemb er 2023 by the
Government detailing the implementation of Resolution No. 110120231QH15 passed by the Standing

certain goods and services from 01 January 20241o 30 June 2024 and in accordance with D-\ee
72120241ND-CP dated 30 June 2024 by the Government detailing the implementation ot nesotr(!)
No. 14212024lQH 15 passed by the Standing Committee of the National Assembly dated 29 June'2
the VAT rate of 8% is applicable to certain goods and services from 01 July 2024 to 31 Decem
2024.

. Electricity 8%

. Other services: 8%.

Other taxes

Other taxes are applicable in accordance with the prevailing tax laws in Vietnam.

The tax reports of the companies in the Group will be inspected by the Tax Department. Application
of the laws and regulations on tax to different transactions can be interpreted by many ways; therefore,
the tax amounts presented in the consolidated financial statements can be amended in accordance
with the Tax Department's final assessment for the companies.

3.24. Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders
(after adjusted for bonus and welfare funds), by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the year, excluding ordinary shares bought back by the Group and held as treasury
shares.

3.25. Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders
(after adjusted for bonus and welfare funds), by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the year and total ordinary shares that would be issued on the conversion
excluding ordinary shares bought back by the Group and held as treasury shares.

3.26. Segmentreporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged either in producing or providing
related products or services (business segment), or in producing or providing products or services
within a particular economic environment (geographical segment), which is subject to risks and
rewards that are different from those of other segments.

3.27. Related parties

Related parties are individuals or entities that have the ability, directly or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, to control the Group or are controlled by, or are subject to common control with the
Group. Associates, individuals owning, directly or indirectly, an interest in the voting power of the
Group that gives them significant influence over the Group, key management personnel, including
directors and officers of the Group and close family members or associates of such individuals are
also considered to be related parties.

(

(See the next page)
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DAITHIEN LOC CORPORATION AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Address: Lot CN8, Road CNS, Song Than lll lndustrial Park, Phu Tan Ward, Thu Dau Mot City,
Binh Duong Province, Vietnam

NOTES TO THE CONSOLTDATED FTNANCTAL STATEMENTS (CONTTNUED)

4. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION FOR ITEMS SHOWN lN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF ,1
FTNANCTAL POSTTTON t

4.1. Gash and cash equivalents (

As at As at
31 Dec.2024 01 Jan.2024

VND VND

Cash in hand 86,425,800 3,749,528,088 a
Cash at bank 4,427,194,849 22,515,167,560 t

Total 4,513,620,649 26,264,695,648 ct

I4.2. Current trade receivables

Trade receivables from related parties

- Refer to Note 8

Trade receivables:

As at
31 Dec.2024 01 Jan.2024

VND VND

10,079,566,663 12,211,769,659

Thien Loc Mechanical Construction and Real
Estate Company Limited 139,257,342,676 172,987,513,242
An Binh Production and lnvestment One Member
Co., Ltd 87,722,646,265 62,816,725,639
Duc Long Production and lnvestment One Member
Co., Ltd 62,195,371,620 31,784,410,375
Other (.) 51,927,865,335 60,917,594,002

Total 351,182,792,559 340,718,012,917

(*) As at 31 December 2024, any component of current trade receivables from other customers was
less than 10% total current trade receivables.

(See the next page)
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DAITHIEN LOC CORPORATION AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Address: Lot CNB, Road CNS, Song Than lll lndustrial Park, Phu Tan Ward, Thu Dau Mot City,
Binh Duong Province, Vietnam

4.3.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLTDATED FTNANCTAL STATEMENTS (CONTTNUED)

Current advances to suppliers

As at
31 Dec.2024

VND

As at
01 Jan.2024

VND

Advances to related parties - Refer to Note 8

Thien Loc Mechanical Construction and Real Estate
Company Limited
Duc Long Production and lnvestment One Member
Co., Ltd
Other (.)

Total

77,064,800

9,938,281,519

7,010,391,278
5,461 ,158,738

55,235,000,000

2.415.578.651

:-
)03

)ttr
2
)P
IHII

tr6t

-

___2499199,99!_ ___!2,6!9,529,6fl

Current advances to suppliers mainly represent advances for the construction of factory buildings and
the purchase of machinery and equipment.

(.)Asat31 December2024, anycomponentof advancestoothersupplierswaslessthan 10%of the
total current advances to suppliers.

(See the next page)

23

I
r/

'., I.t



ir(

sc! -=

.t

.'L.t
!l r

l
'tt
;.1
a

,li

iT
"tA

,ilt

-/4,1.8

^ll,CD II

oll
odll
rl)lloll
(oll
6) ll

o^ll
sell

I
il

il

il

Io[ ro@ll otll o
oll rF-)ll oacllN(t)
oll o -o(oll lf) (tr

sll Ng'll ell -ll o)
ll -cll!ll o

E
r(D

^lt rF
c4tll =rll !
odll N
l'-il o
FII,dll sc)ll o
Ga ll

-1 6
ll -cll !q)
ll oO)llur(!ll oo-

;!,,oo
-ll rolq+ll o.0^q)\ll o-os
6ll r -o6|l bEE
til :lo Q.

SII P E

Pll Nb
il€ll o[-
ll cilI

=otso
Pc
oc
o
o-
E
oo
co
s
No
N
L
o)
-o
E
0)o
q)

ralO;v

= E g 5
LE=dor-YO'u)
zl_

I 
^ 

I 
^oo)

@ cf)oo,
Nlr)ororO,
cO l-
\tS
O'r

r

C
.9
.9.

o
L
o-

O If).tF
@ rto@
N_ r_ (O_ cr)-
sl c\l(aol- If)(OSo, ol\I\
l.c) Or--(O rNO)oolo
.ff-rf)

E
=o
E

I 
^ 

I 
^o cv)

@tr)o- (o-
N(Oo t.-rO
co@.t@
o)o

N

@ N$l'*o 1r)o)@
l'-_ F'-_ (O_ tr)_

@ NCqCO
t- N(oNco_ s_ Fr- ry
O N-@(f) @N@
@_ (f)_ lr)-
sss

t(\t
o
N;Eo-,2
-)o
(E

o

rl(\o
6t
dooOz
-)c)
.E
o

E
.9
.9
o
o-

c
=o
E

c
e.oo5

r >f
'ELa O-o .>2

E (D oao Eo 6q-.P

::(trc
4u-=

E g E--gE 85EEE =(DOYlU<-LO=zEl^E se.eEr-
a a (Jl) L a
O OJ ar X 0)E@Etr*aoo 0) o (l) jj o>1= >'= O t) >'o 9'o tr lrJ g'o
E;E9EEE
L L L AM at to 0) oE- = o
-;-.^,-=FC = 

(D= X F ftr EI Oo.O6,6>O
5o

og
.cl
G

ooo

o

o

$
\t

a
uJ
fz
z
oI
(t,

z
UJ

=UJ

U'

oz
z
II
o
UJF
o
J
ooz
oo
UJ
IF
o
(t,
IJJl-
oz

Eoc
o

o)oc

=oL
o_
o)c
o
lo
_c
c
in

a
o
o

=oo
f

-CF
,o
L
o

=co
F
l
-c
o_

AilUT
ES<:
6E
Aao?
-UJ-o-
a=tcoezl
{orz8
Oatr-
4-zEvo:(LH
tri5ou.o-
oz
OO)-z3
uJ ..

=3F9
AEo<



ro
N :

:"

r'l
:.1

I

t,

a (oaoa
o ei - (tr
o hc(tr0)
cD E E >ar
O -OLO
o
o9

tr

rNf'-
@(o
F-O
@s
|()r
o) co
O'(oo)oo)^ s_
s@

a
o
E
o
=E
Lo
o

o=
OI(Eo
(l)E
>(Eoootr

,\
\
Y

v

Ac

o

-ll6rll
@-ll
Nlli- ll

6r ll

(oll
oll\tll
oa ll

-ll

-ll@ll

;ll(l,lt
oll
oll(\rll
loll
rt ll

-ll

o
O)(g
a-

!xo\
o

IS
rll !-+ll odll o---:il../)9)[ .U
@ll(oll

rull
6rll
Nll

tl
I
I

t(\t
o
N

Eo-,2
-)e
r!
o

o,
CN
f@
oN
t l'*(ory
o(o-=O
ftv_
bce
oo
q)
E.

EEO-
O)(o
o
oN
rO
v
c.)

{No(\t
;Eo-z-)o
G'

o

tNo(\t
oooOz
-)(9

t!
o

l-* I 3:ld o_ r--- s_
lN@co
I f'- lf) c')
i r O) O)
l-or@I co o) cf)
I l'- o) l'*
lcD$lr)
lN
I

Itu, a o a o aIh 6 :E:Elii o oooolE .i. e.i e;
.* o rOrO
lY L o oI(l) (I)I> ; E Eloo99ILLIT
I

I

iO= I r (O
lo= @ (o
lo 5 cY)^ o)-

lb E o) o,
l;6 f'- co
16 '- o)- (o-
lq o) rlo o' NlE @ c.jt-t-
I

I

I

I

I

laq!NF-i8 8 P"N
N@C')1t--ros

lrO)@
r-O)O)
l@oilt
lr.-NN
lcocDo)t-
I

9,o ro*
.L0) EXE6 Zdr-E.C

o-Eo) o=o
)F^fE:*-L/f--c

E eb q -
€E8v;8 L
k-E-ii. d)

Es55ES I

=N:$
d co-
co,E3
o -__:ENg9rya(t-)c!:
oE0()(/.,oo
EL I

-o
o)
E

E iB/\ u !vsgr

o}:6t
36c;.; O oOUN ro QZ

a -)o(9
]ie
6.g

oocE
ALoq)

!

oo
o=o*(I)Y
L()

oo
EE
OE (!
ao3,oo +EE fr
(I)o .=
oo !?
dl: (JEo q)

9P ;:1 f, oll* o
!1

o,_6 ;f o) f!f o
o)i o)

6-e. 6

a
uJ
fz
z
oI
q)

z
uJ

=LtJF

U'

oz
z
lr
o
uJ

o
J
o
(n

z
oo
uJI
o
U'
IU

oz

5ll
sll
o,^ll
olt
c,1r lloll
(oll*ll

E
o

o
tto
E
J

lt
oo

*i
\t

E
oc
(D

o)
U
ct
o
L

o_

Ct)c
o
fo

_c.

.=
co

5
O

f
oo
l
-cF
-iU
L
(U

=C(!
F
f

_c
o_

U) ,;uJt
ES
6S
a6m=
-UJ-q7=
a=
Fc
;Pzl<olz3
Oa
Egt;o:l
&Blorlo-l
oz
OO
J*z2l
u.r ..l
=alJ- @tFol
aElo<l



(0
N."ll

@lloll
dll\rll
6a ll

rll
.D ll

o^ll
oll

=ll

orll
toll

^[l.(,ll
(oll
oll
."a ll

o,^ll
6ll
-ll

l-N
rLr)
F.- Cr)

olriosrN
oq(f)(o
ry F-_

O)-loN

sotr)o(oo,@coo)
l--lOF-tf)@
@- @_ c.l
or(osor@s
s_ @_ tr)_

F-O)rf-- (o

EX9
(u,.0?<(\rzi

G

o

tNe
{R=

doo
(v,

sll(o ll

oill
l.rll
h- ll

olloll
CD II

Nll
--ll
-ll

tttttc
.o
.o
o

o_

z, 6toro)oroX *trNor(o
x roNcr,t6)rU cY)@r(Qq)!t (o F.- t- o)

@r$@cO
NNO,NCO
N(O@@S(Otf)(Or@
NOTVNcO
@rr) (Or
N CAS

Elllll
.9
.9
o
L

o_

i (o(oco(oo,
Y< CDNN(ocf)x t()o)o)orF-U g-cv)o)(o

N@O)@Cf)
o^ (o- o)_ o)_ or_
tr)str)oo)
rN(O@S
o)o)cf)cD@
orocoorlrio)(o $or C.)|()

$
No
6l
i(!0-zs)o
(E

o

6
o)
(U

a-
xq)

q)

o
q)
u)

,- ll

@lloll
FJII
NII
@-ll
@ll
6ll
sfll
rll
Nll

il

o
0)
.=
c
o.E
o
=!o
o_
Ec
o
>12p3
-=a.CG(J_
PE(,cx

-Eo >*3bo
E-6 P9;6
.-. eE
oo!
3El;(U -E<#o()== (!
LLV'-
fOO-O(L()f F

a
UJ

z
trz
oI
@

z
UJ

=UJ

l-\f(,(\r.oa1
2 t9
Z, (v)trE
o9r 4.

o
=ooz
oo
UJ
I
o
U)
UJ

oz

q,
oo
E)
o

@L
.ai a o-:o-9. .=
O-Y! e(U f, c,)O (D

= 
tn 6'6 6 .9I p E- oE E

F h.E b i!x:EE E VzV^==!PE=iig P 3

{
$

an
o
L

o
tr
o

4
$

(":

il

E
o
C
o

o)o
C

o
L

o_

oc
o
fo
-cc
in

i
O
o

f
oo
l

_c.
F
E
L
G

=co
F
f

_c.
o_

U'iUf
ES
6S
OamfqU
J-a-
o=
tcoez-
{o:
-CZ.-o6
igE7o:
^Urdtri;otro.
oz
OO
J-z3
IIJ ..

=8FE
<Eo<



'i:i
I

,{
{

'.1

4^

Y
(
(

OAx
9e\

N nll 6E N1r) Nil ==cD- o-ll , -o

@ cDll r,o oll Y:o(o (v)ll : q)

s -ll o-h sll b-8
.rl oill bo
Nl OOll : cNl c\rll q oI ll 6--0I ll Ls

'9o
u ! cst

, ll o):Nll 9 pR
ll z.=II EE P
ll o-o-fll ^ o-"IULII :ERll 6 o:ll E,Ell ooE
ll .c f;o

= ^sr h ON

5 3II EEEo- F-ll Y PQ o
H. $ll *:Es
I gll EEEDI sll E;=H

ll .!.= o v|| E; ":Y oZ n

3 hll iEs=(r) Sll c oN-O
@ oill -*oocD -ll = 

*)--._ a] 
= 

p,3 €cq @[ -.!-^*Lo oll tqEq)o- 6f|l qP6.,
c{ .ali :lc:fP gII EE#:I ll S5*=il o.,_o@,, EbPS

^ c.! -o

E PII ;f;$E
o) @ll 9pz.g3 ell EaEEN orll =: I b-e 3ll 8-e fi €-.
$ (vrll EFv >.

B Rll EeEEll >PEell gb< Eil '='aaa
i.-c (o

6 oIo
EroQ
= B=Eo xE o)

o,o!E
Eb 3 p

-r €ePE
N S 

=EEbK } ;F:EI = E ;==!E : 3 a[Bg
X o (e Oq)io8 6 E ;EgE; & { =^esEz uE 6tr

nllrll
o_ll
rolloll
oa ll

o4t lloll
or^ll

F.ll
."ll

oll
urll
u)ll
i- llrf lloll
orll
r..! ll

|f)ll

'll

-llArll
@ll
h- lloll
F--ll
oll
6) ll

@_ll
(oli
-ll

-lloll
^nNll

60 il

@_11

l,'ll
@ll
r4t Il

Nll
lI,ll
-ll

-llo)ll(oll
ollolloll

^llrftIoll
@_ll
(oll
-ll

EEooo- o-99o_ o-
P!c;cPOPceA-tgB$soqHsotls E R 5s i RN;dgN;d

;o-cPo6 H 6 n 66 E d
-ooY y -=(,lEHEE E o -P.E E;soz, E 7 :EEt H(I, Q o-c ! (tr X o-L

S r;38 e p rE-38 e

H; S$
s&sn
sB+g
$3po

orrr
|r)
lr).
f.-s
o-
N
lr)
lr)-

o)(o r r

rO(o cf)
coSlolr)
co(f)(os
l.- -s_ s_
(a(f)
I:r

3S3',
lo_ s_ f,
Ess
55\
o_ or_ v
Hsa

=

$q $oo)
EP. E
RP ss.- g

oll
Nlloll
'rill6ll
D,- ll

dll\t ll
crll

ril

oll
rftll
trrll
n- ll

\rll
oll
Nll
lr,ll
l.rll

'll

oll
6ll(t ll

oll
@ll
l.tll

lf,ll
.o-ll
(oll
.o ll

-ll

-llc)ll(oll

Elloll
Jll
@ll
6ll
rrrll

-ll

-lloll
rft ll

lr,ll
Nll
6rll
or lli- ll(\rll
(oll

*ll

P P a'=
--o-5E
E€gu'-'-@F-

HHgg,
P E s=

orrr
tr)
rO
t-rif
o-
N
|r)
|r)_

orrr
@
cO
o(o
tr)_

1r)
1r)

c.,
cf)

386'@-@-5

EEg
EEs
!tg
co$ r ^tsR- E
HJ s
HN EE* e

sEzlq=)l
E'b I

=L 
I06 
|

I

I

EO
p=

o=o
,1262:trtr>oa

'=
E'o

E!2gE,
o

E=cl
EE=
aao'=
.= Er.goo
l!

=

o
ooo
G
E'ox
g
lt'EI
EE
.tt, g

@
t

Eo
E
o

o)

ct
o
L
o-
(,)
C
o
fo

_c
.c
c0

a
o
o

:l
oo
=_c.F
L
o

=C
N
F
=_c

o_
U) ,;lrJ i
ES
6E
(hamr
-UJea-
u)=
Fr
oEz-<orzEOa
F,;<ryt-o"o-HcdloElo-l
ozlo()l
J-lz3l
uJ ..1
=alJ- OtFol
a=lo<l

a
uJ
fz
trz
oI
a
z
UJ

=IJJ

o

oz
z
II
o
IJJF
o
J
o
U)z
oo
uJI
o
U'
IJJ

oz



DA!THIEN LOC CORPORATION AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Address: Lot CN8, Road CN5, Song Than lll lndustrial Park, Phu Tan Ward, Thu Dau Mot City,
Binh Duong Province, Vietnam

NOTES TO THE CONSOLTDATED FTNANCTAL STATEMENTS (CONTTNUED)

4.9. lntangible fixed assets

Items

Cost.

As at 01 Jan.2024
Transferred to
investment property

As at 31 Dec.2024

Accumu lated amortisation:

As at 01 Jan.2024
Amortisation
Transferred to
investment property

As at 31 Dec.2024

Net book value:

As at 01 Jan.2024

As at31 Dec.2024

Land use rights

VND

Computer
Software

VND

Total

VND

11,240,727,730

(11,240,727 ,730)

574,800,000 11,815,527,730

(11,240,727 ,730)

4,968,066,695
285,693,708

(5,253,760,403)

574,800,000 ______121f99p90

574,800,000 5,542,866,695
285,693,708

(5,253,760,403)

6,272,661,035

574,800,000 ____lz1J99{90

4
100

)0h
;6r
IH

\-
1g!

The historical cost of intangible fixed assets fully depreciated but still in use totalled VND 574,800,000.

(See the next page)
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DAITHIEN LOC CORPORATION AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Address: Lot CN8, Road CN5, Song Than lll lndustrial Park, Phu Tan Ward, Thu Dau Mot City,
Binh Duonq Province, Vietnam

NOTES TO THE CONSOLTDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4.10. Finance leased assets

!tems

After the Group completes all obligations under the lease contracts, the lessor will resell the leased
assets and transfer ownership of the leased assets to the Group.

The historical cost of finance leased assets fully depreciated but still in use totalled VND 1 ,095,606,960

4.'|.1. Non - current prepayments

Cost:

As at 01 Jan.2024

As at 31 Dec.2024

Accumu lated depreciation :

As at 01 Jan.2024
Depreciation

As at 31 Dec.2024

Net book value:

As at 01 Jan.2024

As at31 Dec.2024

Prepaid land rentals for one (1) payment for many
periods (.)
Tools and supplies
Other

Total

As at
31 Dec.2024

VND

Machinery and
equipment

VND

30,730,344,077

____39f30f_-.!E1

8,404,431,885
5,948,935,510

_____11i11,192,99!-

22,325,912,192

16,376,W6,6U

As at
01 Jan.2024

VND

:
I
G
tl

E,

-t-

34,284,183,139
2,754,361,959

313,798,650

35,426,962,675
3,172,958,882

673,425,498

___3 52J43J_48_ ___3s43;4ry9s

(*) Representing the prepaid land rentals in Song Than lll lndustrialZones under land lease contracts
to build the factory until 2055.

As at 31 December 2024, the amount of year-end net book value of leased land use rights totalling
VND 34,284,183,139 was pledged as loan security - Refer to Note 4.18.

29

:

J

.,1

!r.n

"t



DAITHIEN LOC CORPORATION AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Address: Lot CN8, Road CNS, Song Than lll lndustrial Park, Phu Tan Ward, Thu Dau Mot City,
Binh Duonq Province, Vietnam

NOTES TO THE CONSOLTDATED FTNANCTAL STATEMENTS (CONTTNUED)

4.'12. lnvestment property held for lease

!tems

Cost:

Land use rights
Buildings

Total

Accumulated
depreciation:

Land use rights
Buildings

Total

Net book value.

Land use rights
Buildings

Total

As at
31 Dec.2O24

VND
Additions Decreases

VND VND

As at
01 Jan.2024

VND

11,240,727,730 11,240,727,730
8,686,782,661 8,686,782,661

JgEn$9&1 _19p?Ii19381_

5,253,760,403
5,089,951,522

5,253,760,403
5,089,951,522

5,986,967,327
3,596,831 ,'1 39

__9E9ll9!196

The net book value of investment property costing VND 1,265,843,837 at the year-end was mortgaged
as loan security - Refer to Note 4.18.

Rental income and expenses related to investment property are presented as follows:

Year 2024
VND

R
w
Arv

rt0c

6

Rental income from investment property
Direct operating expenses from property that generated rental income

11,345,487,628
825,519,084

At the reporting date, the Group could not determine the fair values of investment properties to be
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements because currently there is no guidance on
determination of fair values using valuation techniques under the Vietnamese Accounting Standards
or the Vietnamese Accounting System for enterprises. The fair values of these investment properties
may differ from their carrying amounts.

(See the next page)
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DAITHIEN LOC CORPORATION AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Address. Lot CN8, Road CNS, Song Than lll lndustrial Park, Phu Tan Ward, Thu Dau Mot City,
Binh Duong Province, Vietnam

NOTES TO THE CONSOLTDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTTNUED)

4.16. Current accrued expenses

As at
31 Dec.2O24

VND

As at
01 Jan.2O24

VND

Accrued expenses payable to related parties - Refer
to Note 8 (.)
Payables to employees
Accrued other expenses

Total

expenses on related party

14,317,598,825
1,647,860,695
2,421,522,970

1'1,609,535,291
1,916,423,795
2,421,522,970

___l!,1!9f!?190

loans incurred from 2013

___11847fi2{56

to 2024 that remain

,10

)0t
;d
il

'_ui:

(.) Representing interest
unpaid.

4.17. Other current payables

As at
31 Dec.2024

VND

As at
01 Jan.2024

VND

Other payables to related parties - Refer to Note B

Thien Loc Engineering Construction and Land Co., Ltd
(.)
Other payables (*.)

Total

483,785,250

3,515,264,315
10,038,202,138

507,159,792

29,206,598,147

___f!{3u91f!3 ___4fl1f 
'ry39

(*) Representing goods that have been received but are awaiting quality inspection.

(**) As at 31 December 2024, any component of other current payables to other suppliers was less
than 10% of the total other current payables.

(See the next page)
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DAITHIEN LOC CORPORATION AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Address: Lot CN8, Road CNS, Song Than lll lndustrial Park, Phu Tan Ward, Thu Dau Mot City,
Binh Duonq Province, Vietnam

NOTES TO THE CONSOLTDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTTNUED)

4.19.2. Details of owners' equity

As at
3'l Dec.2024 01

VND

As at
Jan.2024

VND

Mr. Nguyen Thanh Nghia
Tam Duc Steel Manufacturing Company Limited
Ms Nguyen Thi Bich Lien
Ms Nguyen Thanh Loan
Other shareholders

Total

4.19.3. Shares

Number ordinary shares registered for issue
Number ordinary sold to public
Number ordinary repurchased (Treasury shares)
Number ordinary outstanding

Par value per outstanding share: VND 10,000 per share.

4.'19.4. Basic earnings per share

Profit after tax attributable to the parent company
Distribution to Bonus and welfare fund
Earnings for the purpose of calculating basic
earnings per share
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the year

Basic earnings per share

(See the next page)

614,356,040,000 614,356,040,000

292,202,130,000
116,523,890,000
78,999,520,000
62,443,780,000
64,186,720,000

292,202,130,000
1 18,632,890,000
78,999,520,000
62,443,780,000
62,077,720,000

As at
31 Dec.2024

As at
01 Jan.2024

,:
I 00i

0N,
6p
mi

y0:,

61,435,604
61,435,604

(804,620)
60,630,984

Year 2024
VND

61,435,604
61,435,604

(804,620)
60,630,984

Year 2023
VND

4,252,561,514- (156,1 35,433,221)-

4,252,561,514

60,630,984

(156,1 35,433,221)

60,630,984

70 (2.575)
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DAITHIEN LOC CORPORATION AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Address: Lot CN8, Road CNS, Song Than lll lndustrial Park, Phu Tan Ward, Thu Dau Mot City,
Binh Duonq Province, Vietnam

NOTES TO THE CONSOLTDATED FTNANCTAL STATEMENTS (CONTTNUED)

4.19.5. Diluted earnings per share

Year 2024
VND

Year 2023
VND

Profit after tax attributable to the parent company
Distribution to Bonus and welfare fund
Earnings for the purpose of calculating diluted
earnings per share
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the year

Diluted earnings per share

4.20. Off consolidated statement of financial position items

4,252,561,514_ (156,135,433,221)_

4,252,561,514

60,630,984

(156,1 35,433,221)

60,630,984

As at
31 Dec.2024

70 12.5751

As at
01 Jan.2024

Foreign currencies:

USD

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION FOR ITEMS SHOWN IN
STATEMENT

Revenue from selling goods and rendering services

36,051.69 38,385.79

THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME

a
iTY
,AN

nl.{

,5.

5.1.

Year 2024
VND

Year 2023
VND

Sale of goods, merchandise - domestic
Sale of goods, merchandise - export
Rendering of services
Others

Total

Of which revenue from selling goods and rendering
services to related parties - Refer to Note B

5.2. Cost of sales

Cost of goods, merchandise - domestic
Cost of goods, merchandise - export
Cost of rendering services
Others

Total 1,972,027,999,068 2,007,3N,257,797

1,952,842,967 ,455
762,021,845

12,823,139,528
571 ,415,693

1,928,288,7 59,045
27,204,957,842
12,434,947,084
4,599,739,716

1,965,999,544,521

1 ,641 ,103,388

1,W2,528,403,687

3,284,578,577

Year 2024
VND

Year 2023
VND

1,968,927 ,484,955
680,984,706

'1,305,963,648

1 ,1 13,565,759

1 ,979,449,416,442
22,959,474,171

1,988,020,555
2,932,346,629
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DAITHIEN LOC CORPORATION AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Address: Lot CN8, Road CN5, Song Than lll lndustrial Park, Phu Tan Ward, Thu Dau Mot City,
Binh Duonq Province, Vietnam

5.3.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLTDATED FTNANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTTNUED)

Finance expense

Year 2024
VND

Year 2023
VND

lnterest expense
Losses from exchange differences

Total

General and administrative expense

Employee expense
Depreciation expense
Provisions/( reversal ) of provisions for dou btfu I

debts
Service expense
Others

Total

Other income

Gains from disposal and sale of fixed assets (*)

Other income

Tota!

Depreciation expense of idle fixed assets
Penalties due to contract violations
Other

Total

78,955,381,460 101,654,723341

73,585,644,369
5,369,737,091

99,171,639,897
2,483,083,444

Year 2024
VND

Year 2023
VND

10,416,611,829
2,929,207,310

3,495,508,342
5,093,249,203
2,829,945,803

9,212,305,999
3,058,419,498

(879,143,700)
4,994,073,424
3,203,385,940

u,764,5n,4U 19,589,041 ,161

Year 2024
VND

Year 2023
VND

137,608,321,922
85,250,094

61,836,953,769
220,640,280

___1!Z.qqEZ?{16 62,057,5e4,04e

(*) The Group disposed of machinery and equipment due to the business difficulties faced by Dai Thien
Loc Group. The liquidation of the cleaning production line, cold rolling, and electroplating lines was
carried out in accordance with the Resolution of the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders 2024
No. 01/NQ-DHDCD|2024, dated 26 June 2024.

Other expense

Year 2024
VND

Year 2023
VND

24,757,073,036
21,752,000
65,032,313

31,673,082,625

251,028,636

24343357349 319UJ11,261
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DAITHIEN LOC CORPORATION AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Address: Lot CN8, Road CN5, Song Than lll lndustrial Park, Phu Tan Ward, Thu Dau Mot City,
Binh Duong Province, Vietnam

5.7.

6.2.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLTDATED FTNANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Production and business costs by element

Year 2024
VND

1,035,924,424,494
884,180,973,225

13,151,841,244
59,806,279,829

3,495,508,342
16,258,625,642
7,045,664,715

Year 2024
VND

Cash receipts from loans under normal contracts

Cash repayments of principal amounts borrowed

1,863,701 ,200,311 1 ,988,476,889,220

Year 2023
VND

Merchandise expense
Material expense
Employee expense
Depreciation expense
Provis ions/( reversal) of provisions for dou btfu I

debts
Service expense
Other expenses

Total 2,019,863,317,491 1,901,056,257,553

Gurrent corporate income tax expense

Current corporate income tax expense is determined based on the taxable income of each company
in the Group as follows:

Name Current tax rate

DaiThien Loc Corporation 20o/o

Dai Thien Loc Steel One Member Co., Ltd 15%
Dai Thien Loc Steel Sheet One Member Co., Ltd 20o/o

ADD]TIONAL INFORMATION FOR ITEMS SHOWN IN THE GONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW
STATEMENT

Cash receipts from loans in the year

6.

6.1.

Year 2023
VND

Year 2024
VND

Year 2023
VND

Cash repayment of principal amounts under normal
contracts (1,926,880,1 11,419) (2,228,306,401,412)

SEGMENT REPORTING

The business activities in which the Group operates are mainly production of and trading iron and
steel. Therefore, the Group's exposure to risk and profitability are not affected primarily by the Group's
varieties of products or the Group's operation in different geographic areas. Accordingly, management
recognises that the Group has only one business and geographic area. Whereby, the Group does not
present seg ment reporti ng.

13,830,741 ,S\-+\
46.708.728.2d6

" 
"-lI

(879,143,70.:

20,429,453,7ij
4,596,724,479

7.

41
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DAITHIEN LOC CORPORATION AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Address: Lot CN8, Road CNS, Song Than lll lndustrial Park, Phu Tan Ward, Thu Dau Mot City,
Binh Duong Province, Vietnam

NOTES TO THE GONSOLIDATED FTNANCTAL STATEMENTS (CONTTNUED)

8. RELATED PARTIES

List of related parties

1. Tam Duc Steel Manufacturing Company Limited
2. Ms. Nguyen Thanh Loan

3. Board of Directors and management
4. Audit Committee, lnternal Audit Subcommittee

Current trade receivables - Refer to Note 4.2:

Tam Duc Steel Manufacturing Company Limited

Amounts paid out, advances and interest payable on
behalf of related parties:

Tam Duc Steel Manufacturing Company Limited
Mr Nguyen Thanh Nghia, Chairperson

Total- Refer to Note 4.4

Current trade payables - Refer to Note 4.13:

Tam Duc Steel Manufacturing Company Limited

Advances to suppliers - Refer to Note 4.3:

Tam Duc Steel Manufacturing Company Limited

Relationship

Significant influence shareholder
Close family members of key
management personnel
Key management personnel
Supervisor

As at
31 Dec.2024

VND

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been
eliminated in full in consolidation.

At the end of the reporting period, the balances with related parties are as follows:

As at
01 Jan.2023

VND

a

t

)(

(

I

t(

10,079,566,663

As at
31 Dec.2024

VND

12,211,769,659

As at
01 Jan.2023

VND

3,293,346,371
1,337,532,337

3,221,610,371
814,363,909

____lf39rz!19!_

As at
31 Dec.2024

VND

____l&19f4!280

As at
01 Jan.2024

VND

(1,210,437,551)

As at
31 Dec.2024

VND

(202,154,160)

As at
01 Jan.2024

VND

77,064,800

42



DATTHIEN LOC CORPORATION AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Address: Lot CN8, Road CN5, Song Than lll lndustrial Park, Phu Tan Ward, Thu Dau Mot City,
Binh Duonq Province, Vietnam ':
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLTDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

As at
31 Dec.2O24

VND

As at
01 Jan.2024

VND

Current loans:

Ms. Nguyen Thi Bich Lien, Vice Chairperson
Mr. Nguy6n Thanh Nghia, Chairperson

Total - Refer to Note 4.18

Current accrued interest expenses:

Mr Nguyen Thanh Nghia, Chairperson
Ms Nguyen Thi Bich Lien, Vice Chairperson
Ms Nguyen Thanh Dung, Member of Board of
Directors cum Vice General Director
Ms Nguyen Thanh Loan

Total- Refer to Note 4.16

Sale of goods and rendering of service - Refer to
Note 5.1 :

Tam Duc Steel Manufacturing Company Limited

Purchase of goods and rendering of service:

Tam Duc Steel Manufacturing Company Limited

(17,103,274)
(47,548,000,000)

(17,103,274)-

_pfiilgag_
As at

31 Dec.2024
VND

117,103,2741

As at
01 Jan.2024

VND

(6,464,934,437)
(7,552,082,184)

(170,892,291)
(129,689,913)

(3,756,870,903)
(7,552,082,184)

(170,8e2,291)
(12e,689,913)

__11li1ZE9!r?lL

As at
31 Dec.2024

VND

__l!,q998lq491l

As at
01 Jan.2024

VND

Other current payables - borrowing, advances for operating expense:

Tam Duc Steel Manufacturing Co., Ltd

Mr. Nguyen Thanh Nghia, Chairperson

Total - Refer to Note 4.17 ____ll9ll!lAqE_ _____Eq4!919?L

During the reporting period, the Group has had related party transactions as follows:

(472,106,000)
(11,679,250)

(472,106,000)
(35,053,792)

Year 2024
VND

Year 2023
VND

1 ,641 ,103,388

Year 2024
VND

3,284,578,577

Year 2023
VND

126,692,1201,100,387,774
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DAITHIEN LOC CORPORATION AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Address: Lot CN8, Road CN5, Song Than lll lndustrial Park, Phu Tan Ward, Thu Dau Mot City,
Binh Duonq Province, Vietnam

NoTESToTHEcoNSoLlDATEDF!NANclALSTATEMENTS(coNTlNUED)

Year 2024 Year Z,OZ} .l

VND VND i

Mr Nguyen Thanh Nghia, Chairperson.

Borrowings 239,756,000,000 277,734,500,000
Repayments 192,208,000,000 277,734,500,000
Loan proceeds 8,000,000,000 50,712,500,000
Repayments of loans 8,000,000,000 50,902,500,000
Loan interest 311,687 ,753
Loans - (9,510,000,000)
Receipts of loan repayments - 9,5'10,000,000

Guarantees.

Mr. Nguyen Thanh Nghia, Chairperson of the Board of Directors, and Mrs. Nguyen Thi Bich Lien, Vice
Chairperson of the Board of Directors, have used their land use rights as collateral for the Group's i

loans at the Vietnam Bank for Agriculture and Rural Development - Song Than lndustrial Park Branch
and Saigon Thuong tin Commercial Joint Stock Bank - Go Vap Branch - Refer to Note 4.18. I
Salaries, remunerations and other benefits of the Board of Directors, the Audit Committee, the lnternal lt

Audit Committee and management of the parent company are as follows: ,l t

Full name Position Year 2024 Year 2023 .,1i

VND VND

Mr. Nguyen Thanh Nghia Chairperson of the Board
of Directors 13,91 1,800 72,000,000

Ms. Nguyen Thi Bich Lien Vice Chairperson of the
Board of Directors 123,575,600 295,705,500

Ms. Nguyen Thanh Dung Member of the Board of
Directors and Vice
General Director 376,980,800 381,980,300

Mr. Vo Thanh Lam Member of the Board of
Directors and Head of the
Audit Committee
(until 29 June 2023) - 24,000,000

Mr. Nguyen Van Sau Head of the Audit
Committee
(from 26 July 2023 to 26
June 2024) 1 1,000,000

Ms. Doan Thi Bich Thuy Head of lnternalAudit
Committee 176,929,700 59,714,800

Ms. Nguyen Thi Thu Thao Member of lnternal Audit
Committee 160,580,600 6,000,000

Ms. Nguyen Thi Hong Thu Member of lnternal Audit
Committee 172,696,100 6,000,000

_____1p3t921f99_ _____-q4!l99f90

'I

Total
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DAITHIEN LOC CORPORATION AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Address: Lot CN8, Road CNS, Song Than lll lndustrial Park, Phu Tan Ward, Thu Dau Mot City,
Binh Duonq Province, Vietnam

9.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLTDATED FTNANCTAL STATEMENTS (CONTTNUS)

COMMITMENT UNDER OPERATING LEASES

The Group rents warehouses under operating leases. The leases are for an average period
years to 20 years, with fixed rentals over the same period.

Year 2024
VND VND

Payments under operating leases recognised as an
expense in the year 11,345,487,628 9,137,636,728

As at 31 December 2024, Group has outstanding commitments under non-cancellable operating
leases that fall due as follows:

As at
31 Dec.2024

VND

Within one year
Later than one year but within five years
Over five years

Total ____E&2199112_

OTHER DISCLOSURE

On 26 June 2024, Dai Thien Loc Joint Stock Company (the parent company) held the Annual General
Meeting of Shareholders and approved the sale of all fixed assets of Dai Thien Loc Steel One Member
Company Limited in preparation for the future dissolution of this company.

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD

No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 31 December 2024 lhat has significantly affected,
or may significantly affect the Group's operations, the results of those operations, or the Group's state
of affairs in future financial years.

Prepared by

11,423,598,372
30,314,655,285

3,554,545,455

10.

11.

Nguyen Thanh Dung
Vice General Director
(According to the Resolution No. 08/2020/DTL-NQ HDQf
dated 04 November 2020)

Binh Duong, 28 March 2025

Le Ngoc Khang
Preparer cum Chief Accountant

coNG ry
cd prrArv
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As at
01 Jan.2024

VND .

----------------

1 1.062.495.350
35,417,688, Ogil

-N


		2025-06-09T20:20:37+0700
	CÔNG TY CỔ PHẦN ĐẠI THIÊN LỘC
	I am the author of this document




